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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

ITEM 1.           CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share data)
 
  

March 31,
 

December 31,
 

  
2009

 
2008

 

  
(Unaudited)

   

ASSETS
     

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 38,313
 

$ 46,215
 

Restricted cash
 

1,247
 

1,243
 

Short-term investments
 

5,041
 

—
 

Trust assets
     

Investment securities available-for-sale
 

1,322
 

2,068
 

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

5,505,729
 

5,894,424
 

Derivative assets
 

37
 

37
 

Real estate owned (REO)
 

440,916
 

599,084
 

Total trust assets
 

5,948,004
 

6,495,613
 

      
Assets of discontinued operations

 

137,947
 

141,053
 

Other assets
 

29,114
 

31,393
 

Total assets
 

$ 6,159,666
 

$ 6,715,517
 

      
LIABILITIES

     

Trust liabilities
     

Securitized mortgage borrowings
 

$ 5,691,028
 

$ 6,193,984
 

Derivative liabilities
 

232,357
 

273,584
 

Total trust liabilities
 

5,923,385
 

6,467,568
 

      
Trust preferred securities

 

11,090
 

15,403
 

   



Liabilities of discontinued operations 209,865 217,241
Other liabilities

 

6,321
 

6,053
 

Total liabilities
 

6,150,661
 

6,706,265
 

      
Commitments and contingencies

     

      
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

     

Series-A junior participating preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 2,500,000 shares authorized; none issued and
outstanding

 

—
 

—
 

Series-B 9.375% cumulative redeemable preferred stock, $0.01 par value; liquidation value $50,000;
2,000,000 shares authorized, issued and outstanding

 

20
 

20
 

Series-C 9.125% cumulative redeemable preferred stock, $0.01 par value; liquidation value $111,765;
5,500,000 shares authorized; 4,470,600 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008.

 

45
 

45
 

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 7,618,146 shares issued and outstanding as of
March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008

 

76
 

76
 

Additional paid-in capital
 

1,178,569
 

1,177,697
 

Net accumulated deficit:
     

Cumulative dividends declared
 

(815,077) (815,077)
Retained deficit

 

(354,628) (353,509)
Net accumulated deficit

 

(1,169,705) (1,168,586)
Total stockholders’ equity

 

9,005
 

9,252
 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
 

$ 6,159,666
 

$ 6,715,517
 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

 
  

For the Three Months
 

  
Ended March 31,

 

  
2009

 
2008

 

      
INTEREST INCOME

 

$ 712,649
 

$ 271,955
 

      
INTEREST EXPENSE

 

709,007
 

264,606
 

      
Net interest income

 

3,642
 

7,349
 

      
NON-INTEREST INCOME:

     

Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO
 

132,930
 

3,528
 

Losses from real estate owned
 

(128,201) (4,256)
Non-interest income- net trust assets

 

4,729
 

(728)
Change in fair value of trust preferred securities

 

12
 

(4,023)
Real estate advisory fees

 

—
 

3,845
 

Other
 

5,508
 

1,898
 

Total non-interest income
 

10,249
 

992
 

      
NON-INTEREST EXPENSE:

     

General and administrative
 

4,339
 

3,988
 

Personnel expense
 

6,278
 

2,330
 

Total non-interest expense
 

10,617
 

6,318
 

Net earnings from continuing operations before income taxes
 

3,274
 

2,023
 

Income tax expense from continuing operations
 

1,998
 

6,526
 

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations
 

1,276
 

(4,503)
Net (loss) earnings from discontinued operations, net of tax

 

(2,395) 688
 

Net loss
 

(1,119) (3,815)
Cash dividends on cumulative redeemable preferred stock

 

—
 

(3,722)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

 

$ (1,119) $ (7,537)
      
Net loss per common share - basic and diluted:

     

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations
 

$ 0.17
 

$ (1.08)
(Loss) earnings from discontinued operations

 

(0.32) 0.09
 

Net loss per share
 

$ (0.15) $ (0.99)
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
  

For the Three Months
 

  
Ended March 31,

 

  
2009

 
2008

 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
     

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations
 

$ 1,276
 

$ (4,503)
      
Losses from real estate owned

 

128,201
 

4,256
 

Amortization and impairment of deferred charge
 

1,998
 

6,526
 

Amortization and impairment of mortgage servicing rights
 

—
 

647
 

Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO
 

(190,793) (29,430)
Change in fair value of trust preferred securities

 

(12) 4,023
 

Accretion of interest income and expense
 

197,003
 

101,224
 

Stock-based compensation
 

779
 

197
 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities of discontinued operations
 

(2,773) 88,984
 

Net change in other assets and liabilities
 

(12,716) (24,034)
Net cash provided by operating activities

 

122,963
 

147,890
 

      
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

     

Net change in securitized mortgage collateral
 

197,532
 

612,291
 

Net change in mortgages held-for-investment
 

390
 

15
 

Purchase of premises and equipment
 

(194) —
 

Purchase of short-term investments
 

(5,041) —
 

Net principal change on investment securities available-for-sale
 

1,746
 

538
 

Proceeds from the sale of real estate owned
 

161,332
 

74,961
 

Net cash provided by investing activities of discontinued operations
 

2,657
 

7,040
 

Net cash provided by investing activities
 

358,422
 

694,845
 

      
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

     

Settlement of trust preferred securities
 

(3,750) —
 

Repayment of securitized mortgage borrowings
 

(479,081) (739,536)
Preferred stock dividends paid

 

—
 

(3,722)
Net cash used in financing activities of discontinued operations

 

(6,209) (92,942)
Net cash used in financing activities

 

(489,040) (836,200)
      

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
 

(7,655) 6,535
 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
 

46,228
 

26,462
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period - Continuing Operations
 

38,313
 

32,901
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period - Discontinued Operations
 

260
 

96
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
 

$ 38,573
 

$ 32,997
 

      
NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS (Continuing and Discontinued Operations):

     

Transfer of loans held-for-sale and held-for-investment to real estate owned
 

$ 3,821
 

$ —
 

Transfer of securitized mortgage collateral to real estate owned
 

118,851
 

209,801
 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(dollars in thousands, except per share data or as otherwise indicated)
 

Note A—Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies
 
1.              Business Summary and Financial Statement Presentation
 
Business Summary
 

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (the Company or IMH) is a Maryland corporation incorporated in August 1995 and has the following subsidiaries: IMH
Assets Corp. (IMH Assets), Impac Warehouse Lending Group, Inc. (IWLG), and Impac Funding Corporation (IFC), together with its wholly-owned
subsidiaries Impac Secured Assets Corp. (ISAC) and Impac Commercial Capital Corporation (ICCC).

 
In the first quarter of 2009, the Company created a new subsidiary, Integrated Real Estate Service Corporation (IRES), which will include mortgage and

real estate related fee-based businesses.
 



The Company’s operations include its continuing and discontinued operations.  The continuing operations primarily include the long-term mortgage
portfolio (residual interests in securitizations reflected as net trust assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets), and to a lesser extent includes the
mortgage and real estate related fee-based businesses.  The discontinued operations include the former non-conforming mortgage and retail operations
conducted by IFC, commercial operations conducted by ICCC, and warehouse lending operations conducted by IWLG.

 
During the first quarter of 2009, the Company revoked its election to be taxed as a REIT, effective January 1, 2009.  As a result of revoking this election,

the Company will be subject to income taxes as a regular corporation. As of December 31, 2008, the Company had federal and California net operating loss
carryforwards of $406.8 million and $532.2 million, respectively.

 
The information contained throughout this document is presented on a continuing basis, unless otherwise stated.
 

Financial Statement Presentation
 

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of IMH and its subsidiaries (as defined above) have been prepared in accordance with
Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q
and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial
statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation, have been
included. Operating results for the three-month period ended March 31, 2009 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year
ending December 31, 2009.  These interim period condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements, which are included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed with the
United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

 
All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In addition, certain amounts in the prior periods’

consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
 
Management has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period to prepare these consolidated
financial statements in conformity with GAAP.  The items affected by management’s estimates and assumptions include the valuation of trust assets and
liabilities, the valuation of repurchase liabilities related to sold loans, the valuation of trust preferred securities, and the valuation of loans held-for-sale. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Market Conditions and Status of Operations
 

During the first quarter of 2009, the Company continues to be significantly and negatively affected by the deteriorating real estate market and the weak
economic environment. These factors have led to continued deterioration in the quality of the Company’s long-term mortgage portfolio, as evidenced by the
continued increases in delinquencies, foreclosures and credit losses. Existing conditions are unprecedented and inherently involve significant risks and
uncertainty to the Company.  The current market conditions have led to fewer sources of liquidity available to the Company to operate its business.  These
conditions continue to adversely affect the performance of the Company’s long-term mortgage portfolio, including significant losses on real estate owned.

 
During the quarter, the Company has initiated various mortgage and real estate related fee-based businesses, including loan modifications, real estate

disposition, monitoring and surveillance services, real estate brokerage and lending services and escrow services, and has begun to generate revenues from
these businesses.  However, since these businesses are newly formed, there remains uncertainty about their future success.

 
In January 2009, the Company fully satisfied $25.0 million in outstanding trust preferred securities of Impac Capital Trust #2 for $3.75 million.
 
In May 2009, the Company exchanged an aggregate of $51.3 million in trust preferred securities of Impac Capital Trusts #1 and #3 for junior

subordinated notes with an aggregate principal balance of $62.0 million, with a maturity date in March 2034. Under the terms of the exchange, the interest
rates for each note are reduced from 8.01 percent to 2.00 percent through 2013 and increase 1.00 percent per year through 2017. Starting in 2018, the interest
rates become variable at 3-month LIBOR plus 375 basis points. In connection with the exchange, the Company paid a fee of $0.5 million.

 
In March 2009, the Company announced that it will continue to defer interest payments on its remaining $12.0 million in trust preferred securities of

Impac Capital Trust #4. At March 31, 2009, interest that has been deferred and unpaid related to these trust preferred securities was $0.4 million.  The
Company has the right to defer payments of interest for a period of up to 20 consecutive quarterly interest payment periods for Impac Capital Trust #4. 
During the deferral period, interest on the trust preferred securities will bear additional interest at a rate equal to the coupon rate on the respective security.
Unless the Company again elects to defer interest payments, the Company is required to pay all accrued interest together with the additional interest at the
next payment date.

 
In March 2009, the Company announced that it will not be paying dividends for the quarter ended March 31, 2009 on the Company’s 9.375% Series B

Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock and 9.125% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock.  The Company has no present intentions to pay
dividends on the Series B and Series C Preferred Stock, however, unpaid dividends on the preferred stock will accumulate. Until such time as all cumulative
dividends on the preferred stock are paid, the Company may not pay dividends on, nor redeem, repurchase or make any distribution on, shares of its common
stock. At March 31, 2009 cumulative unpaid dividends on preferred stock totaled $7.4 million.  If the Company does not pay dividends on its preferred stock
for six or more quarterly periods (whether or not consecutive), preferred stockholders will be entitled to elect two additional directors to the Company’s Board
of Directors to serve until the Company is current on all dividends.

 
2.              Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
 

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted EITF No. 08-5, “Issuer’s Accounting for Liabilities Measured at Fair Value with a Third-Party Credit
Enhancement” (EITF 08-5). EITF 08-5 addresses whether issuer’s of liabilities should consider the effect of the third-party credit enhancement when



measuring the liability at fair value under FASB Statement No. 157 “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS 157). EITF 08-5 requires that the issuer of a liability
with a third-party credit enhancement that is inseparable from the liability shall not include the effect of the credit enhancement in the fair value measurement
of the liability. The guidance in EITF 08-5 is effective in the first reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008, with the effect of initially
applying its guidance being included in the change in fair value in the period of adoption. The adoption of EITF 08-5 did not have a significant impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

 
Effective, January 1, 2009, application of SFAS 157 to nonfinancial assets and liabilities is required.  As a result of the adoption of SFAS 157 for

nonfinancial assets and liabilities, the Company has included additional disclosures as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2009 for nonrecurring fair
value measurements related to its nonfinancial assets and liabilities.

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In April 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued three statements of position (FSP) related to fair value measurements:
 

·                  FSP No. FAS 157-4 “Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Level of Activity for the Asset or Liability Have Significantly Decreased
and Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly” (FSP 157-4)
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·                  FSP No. FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1 “Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” (FSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1)
·                  FAS No. FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2 “Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments” (FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2)
 

FSP 157-4 provides additional guidance for estimating fair value in accordance with SFAS 157 when the volume and level of market activity for the asset
or liability have significantly decreased. This FSP also includes guidance on identifying circumstances that indicate a transaction is not orderly.  This FSP
emphasizes that even if there has been a significant decrease in the volume and level of market activity for the asset or liability and regardless of the valuation
technique(s) used, the objective of a fair value measurement remains the same. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction (that is, not a forced liquidation or distressed sale) between market participants at the measurement date under current
market conditions. FSP 157-4 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009, and shall be applied prospectively. The
Company is in the process of determining the impact adopting FSP 157-4 will have on its consolidated financial statements.

 
FSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1 amends FASB Statement No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments”, to require disclosures about

fair value of financial instruments for interim reporting periods of publicly traded companies as well as in annual financial statements. This FSP also amends
APB Opinion No. 28, “Interim Financial Reporting”, to require those disclosures in summarized financial information at interim reporting periods.  FSP FAS
107-1 and APB 28-1 is effective for interim reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009, with early adoption permitted for periods ending after March 15,
2009.  The Company does not expect the adoption of FSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1 to have a significant effect on its consolidated financial statements.

 
FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2 amends the other-than-temporary impairment guidance in U.S. GAAP for debt securities to make the guidance more

operational and to improve the presentation and disclosure of other-than-temporary impairments on debt and equity securities in the financial statements. For
debt securities, the statement requires that an entity assess whether it (a) has the intent to sell the debt security or (b) more likely than not will be required to
sell the debt security before its anticipated recovery.  If either of these conditions is met, the Company would be required to recognize other-than-temporary
impairment. FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009, with early adoption permitted for
periods ending after March 15, 2009.  The Company does not expect the adoption of FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2 to have a significant effect on its
consolidated financial statements.

 
In April 2008, the FASB voted to eliminate QSPEs from the guidance in FASB Statement No. 140 “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial

Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities” (SFAS 140). While the revised standard has not been finalized and the FASB’s proposals will be subject to a public
comment period, this change may have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements as it may lose sales treatment for assets
previously sold to QSPEs, as well as for future sales. An effective date for any proposed revisions has not been determined by the FASB.  As of March 31,
2009, the current principal balance of QSPEs to which the Company, acting as principal, has transferred assets and received sales treatment were $643.2
million. The Company’s investment in these QSPE’s consists of residual interests accounted for as investment securities available-for-sale in its consolidated
balance sheets. The Company is still evaluating the impact of this potential change.

 
In connection with the aforementioned proposed changes to SFAS 140, the FASB also is proposing three key changes to the consolidation model in

FASB Interpretation No 46 (revised December 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (FIN 46R).  First, the FASB has proposed to include
former QSPEs in the scope of FIN 46R. In addition, the FASB supports amending FIN 46R to change the method of analyzing which party to a VIE should
consolidate the VIE to a primarily qualitative determination of control instead of today’s risks and rewards model. Finally, the proposed amendment is
expected to require all VIEs and their primary beneficiaries to be reevaluated quarterly. The previous rules required reconsideration only when specified
reconsideration events occurred. As of March 31, 2009, the only significant unconsolidated VIEs are the QSPE’s described in the preceding paragraph.

 
3.              Legal Proceedings
 

The Company is party to litigation and claims which are normal in the course of our operations.
 
In the matter of Sheldon Pittleman v. Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. et al filed in the United States district Court, Central district California against IMH

and several of its senior officers a Third Amended Complaint was filed. A motion to dismiss was filed by the defendants on December 15, 2008. On
March 10, 2009, the court sustained the defendants’ motion to dismiss without leave to amend.  The Plaintiffs have filed a Notice of Appeal of the Order
Granting the Motion to Dismiss With Prejudice and the Judgment thereon on April 7, 2009.

 
Please refer to IMH’s report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 for a description of other litigation and claims.
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We believe that we have meritorious defenses to the above claims and intend to defend these claims vigorously and as such the Company believes the
final outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. Nevertheless, litigation is uncertain
and we may not prevail in the lawsuits and can express no opinion as to their ultimate resolution. An adverse judgment in any of these matters could have a
material adverse effect on us.

 
4.              Income Taxes and Deferred Charge
 

During the first quarter of 2009, the Company revoked its election to be taxed as a REIT, effective January 1, 2009.  As a result of revoking this election,
the Company will be subject to income taxes as a regular corporation.

 
Prior to January 1, 2009, the Company operated as a REIT under the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code. Requirements for qualification as a

REIT included various restrictions on ownership of IMH’s stock, requirements concerning distribution of taxable income and certain restrictions on the nature
of assets and sources of income.

 
As of December 31, 2008, the Company had federal and California net operating loss carryforwards of $406.8 million and $532.2 million, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2008, the Company’s taxable REIT subsidiary had an estimated federal net operating loss tax carryforward of $295.1 million. The federal
net operating loss carryforward of the Company’s taxable REIT subsidiary, utilization of which may be limited to the Company’s taxable REIT subsidiary,
begins to expire in the year 2027. As of December 31, 2008, the Company and the Company’s taxable REIT subsidiary had  net deferred tax assets of
approximately $547.9 million and $100.0 million, respectively. The Company recorded a full valuation allowance against the net deferred tax assets as it
believes it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will not be recoverable.

 
In accordance with Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” the Company records a deferred charge representing the

deferral of income tax expense on inter-company profits that resulted from the sale of mortgages from taxable subsidiaries to IMH in prior years. The deferred
charge is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and is amortized as a component of income tax expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations over the estimated life of the mortgages retained in the securitized mortgage collateral. The Company
recorded a tax expense of $2.0 million and $6.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The tax expense is the result of the
amount of the deferred charge amortized and/or impaired resulting from credit losses, which does not result in any tax liability required to be paid.

 
Note B—Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 

The use of fair value to measure the Company’s financial instruments is fundamental to its consolidated financial statements and is a critical accounting
estimate because a substantial portion of its assets and liabilities are recorded at estimated fair value.

 
The application of fair value estimates may be on a recurring or non-recurring basis depending on the accounting principles applicable to the specific

asset or liability or whether management has elected to carry the item at its estimated fair value.
 
The following tables present, the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, including financial instruments for

which the Company has elected the fair value option at March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, based on the fair value hierarchy of SFAS 157:
 

  
Recurring Fair Value Measurements

 

  
As of March 31, 2009

 

  
Level 1

 
Level 2

 
Level 3

 

Assets
       

Investment securities available-for-sale
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 1,322
 

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

—
 

—
 

5,505,729
 

Total assets at fair value
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 5,507,051
 

        
Liabilities

       

Securitized mortgage borrowings
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 5,691,028
 

Derivative liabilities, net (1)
 

—
 

—
 

232,320
 

Trust preferred securities
 

—
 

—
 

11,090
 

Total liabilities at fair value
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 5,934,438
 

 

(1)        Derivative liabilities, net includes $37 thousand in derivative assets and $232.4 million in derivative liabilities, included within trust assets and trust
liabilities, respectively.
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Recurring Fair Value Measurements

 

  
As of December 31, 2008

 

  
Level 1

 
Level 2

 
Level 3

 

Assets
       

Investment securities available-for-sale
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 2,068
 

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

—
 

—
 

5,894,424
 

Total assets at fair value
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 5,896,492
 

        
Liabilities

       

Securitized mortgage borrowings
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 6,193,984
 

Derivative liabilities, net (1)
 

—
 

—
 

273,547
 

Trust preferred securities
 

—
 

—
 

15,403
 

Total liabilities at fair value
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 6,482,934
 



 

(1)        Derivative liabilities, net includes $37 thousand in derivative assets and $273.6 million in derivative liabilities, included within trust assets and trust
liabilities, respectively.

 
Level 3 assets and liabilities were 100 percent of total assets at fair value and total liabilities at fair value at March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008,

respectively.
 
The following tables present a reconciliation for all assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs

(Level 3) for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008:
 
  

Level 3 Recurring Fair Value Measurements
 

  
For the quarter ended March 31, 2009

 

  

Investment
securities

available-for-
sale

 

Securitized
mortgage
collateral

 

Securitized
mortgage

borrowings
 

Derivative
liabilities, net

 

Trust preferred
securities

 

Fair value, December 31, 2008
 

$ 2,068
 

$ 5,894,424
 

$ (6,193,984) $ (273,547) $ (15,403)
Total gains (losses) included in earnings:

           

Interest income
 

95
 

476,709
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Interest expense
 

—
 

—
 

(673,807) —
 

—
 

Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding
REO

 

905
 

(549,021) 697,203
 

(16,157) —
 

Change in fair value of trust preferred securities
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

12
 

Total gains (losses) included in earnings
 

1,000
 

(72,312) 23,396
 

(16,157) 12
 

Transfers in and/or out of Level 3
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Purchases, issuances and settlements
 

(1,746) (316,383) 479,560
 

57,384
 

4,301
 

Fair value, March 31, 2009
 

$ 1,322
 

$ 5,505,729
 

$ (5,691,028) $ (232,320) $ (11,090)
            
Unrealized (losses) gains still held (1)

 

$ (897) $ (8,100,780) $ 9,256,884
 

$ (235,173) $ 54,380
 

 

(1)          Represents the amount of unrealized (losses) gains relating to assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 that are still held at March 31, 2009.
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Level 3 Recurring Fair Value Measurements

 

  
For the quarter ended March 31, 2008

 

  

Investment
securities

available-for-
sale

 

Securitized
mortgage
collateral

 

Securitized
mortgage

borrowings
 

Trust preferred
securities

 

Fair value, January 1, 2008
 

$ 15,248
 

$ 782,574
 

$ (767,704) $ (40,952)
Total gains (losses) included in earnings:

         

Interest income
 

200
 

(88) —
 

—
 

Interest expense
 

—
 

—
 

(8,901) (154)
Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding

REO
 

(4,290) (248,982) 287,104
 

—
 

Change in fair value of trust preferred securities
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(4,023)
Total gains (losses) included in earnings

 

(4,090) (249,070) 278,203
 

(4,177)
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3 (1)

 

—
 

526,469
 

(562,467) —
 

Purchases, issuances and settlements
 

(537) (93,015) 53,573
 

—
 

Fair value, March 31, 2008
 

$ 10,621
 

$ 966,958
 

$ (998,395) $ (45,129)
          
Unrealized (losses) gains still held (2)

 

$ (2,461) $ (386,800) $ 419,861
 

$ 54,115
 

 

(1)          Transfers in and/or out of Level 3 are reflected using values as of the beginning of the period.
(2)          Represents the amount of unrealized (losses) gains relating to assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 that are still held at March 31, 2008.

 
Based on the lack of observable market data resulting from inactive markets, recurring fair value measurements designated as Level 3 have increased

significantly at March 31, 2009 compared to March 31, 2008, resulting from transfers from Level 2 to Level 3 during 2008.
 
FASB Statement No. 159 “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” (SFAS 159) permits fair value accounting to be elected

for certain assets and liabilities on an individual contract basis at the time of acquisition or under certain other circumstances referred to as “remeasurement
event dates.” For those items for which fair value accounting is elected, changes in fair value will be recognized in earnings, and fees and costs associated
with the origination or acquisition of such items will be recognized as incurred rather than deferred. In addition, SFAS 159 allows application of the
Statement’s provisions to eligible items existing at the effective date, and management has elected to apply SFAS 159 to certain of those items as discussed
below.

 
The following is a description of the measurement techniques for items recorded at fair value on a recurring basis and a non-recurring basis.
 
Recurring basis
 



Investment securities available-for-sale — The Company elected to carry all of its investment securities available-for-sale at fair value. The investment
securities consist primarily of non-investment grade mortgage-backed securities. The fair value of the investment securities are measured based upon the
Company’s expectation of inputs that other market participants would use. Such assumptions include judgments about the underlying collateral, prepayment
speeds, credit losses, forward interest rates and certain other factors. Given the market disruption and lack of observable market data as of March 31, 2009
and December 31, 2008, the fair value of the investment securities available-for-sale were measured using significant internal expectations of market
participants’ assumptions.

 
Securitized mortgage collateral — The Company elected to carry all of its securitized mortgage collateral at fair value. These assets consist primarily of

non-conforming mortgage loans securitized between 2002 and 2007. Fair value measurements are based on the Company’s estimated cash flow models, non-
binding quoted prices for the underlying bonds and yield analysis. The Company’s assumptions include its expectations of inputs that other market
participants would use in pricing these assets. These assumptions include judgments about the underlying collateral, prepayment speeds, estimated future
credit losses, forward interest rates, investor yield requirements and certain other factors.  As of March 31, 2009, securitized mortgage collateral had an
unpaid principal balance of $13.6 billion, compared to an estimated fair value of $5.5 billion. The aggregate unpaid principal balance exceeds the fair value
by $8.1 billion at March 31, 2009.  As of March 31, 2009, the unpaid principal balance of loans 90 days or more past due was $3.0 billion compared to an
estimated fair value of $1.0 billion. The aggregate unpaid principal balances of loans 90 days or more past due exceed the fair value by $2.0 billion at
March 31, 2009.
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Securitized mortgage borrowings — The Company elected to carry all of its securitized mortgage borrowings at fair value. These borrowings consist of
individual tranches of bonds issued by securitization trusts and are primarily backed by non-conforming mortgage loans. Fair value measurements include the
Company’s judgments about the underlying collateral assumptions such as prepayment speeds, estimated future credit losses, forward interest rates, investor
yield requirements and certain other factors and are based upon non-binding quoted prices for the individual tranches of bonds, if available. As of March 31,
2009, securitized mortgage borrowings had an outstanding principal balance of $15.0 billion compared to an estimated fair value of $5.7 billion. The
aggregate outstanding principal balance exceeds the fair value by $9.3 billion at March 31, 2009.

 
Trust preferred securities — The Company elected to carry all of its trust preferred securities at fair value. These securities were measured based upon an

analysis prepared by the Company, which considered the Company’s own credit risk, including consideration of recent settlements with trust preferred debt
holders, comparison to the terms and market prices of the Company’s preferred stock and  negotiations of revised terms of restructured trust preferred
securities.  As of March 31, 2009, trust preferred securities had an  unpaid principal balance of $65.5 million compared to an estimated fair value of $11.1
million. The aggregate unpaid principal balance exceeds the fair value by $54.4 million at March 31, 2009.

 
Derivative assets and liabilities — For non-exchange traded contracts, fair value is based on the amounts that would be required to settle the positions

with the related counterparties as of the valuation date. Valuations of derivative assets and liabilities are based on observable market inputs, if available. To
the extent observable market inputs are not available, fair values measurements include the Company’s judgments about the future cash flows, forward
interest rates and certain other factors, including counterparty risk. Additionally, these values also take into account the Company’s own credit standing, to the
extent applicable, thus included in the valuation of the derivative instrument is the value of the net credit differential between the counterparties to the
derivative contract.

 
The following tables present changes in fair value of recurring fair value measurements for the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008,

respectively:
 
  

Recurring Fair Value Measurements
 

  
Changes in Fair Value Included in Net Loss

 

  
For the three months ended March 31, 2009

 

      
Change in Fair Value of

   

  
Interest Income (1)

 
Interest Expense (1)

 
Net Trust Assets

 

Trust Preferred
Securities

 
Total

 

            
Investment securities available-for-sale

 

$ 95
 

$ —
 

$ 905
 

$ —
 

$ 1,000
 

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

476,709
 

—
 

(549,021) —
 

(72,312)
Securitized mortgage borrowings

 

—
 

(673,807) 697,203
 

—
 

23,396
 

Derivative instruments
 

—
 

—
 

(16,157)(2) —
 

(16,157)
Trust preferred securities

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

12
 

12
 

Total
 

$ 476,804
 

$ (673,807) $ 132,930(3) $ 12
 

$ (64,061)
 

(1)          Amounts represent interest income and interest expense accretion included in interest income and interest expense, respectively in the consolidated
statement of operations.

(2)          Included in this amount is $41.7 million in changes in the fair value of derivative instruments, offset by $57.9 million in cash payments from the
securitization trusts for the three months ended March 31, 2009.

(3)          For the three months ended March 31, 2009, change in the fair value of trust assets, excluding REO was $132.9 million.  Excluded from the
($190.8) million change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO, in the accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows is $57.9 million
in cash payments from the securitization trusts related to the Company’s net derivative liabilities.

 
  

Recurring Fair Value Measurements
 

  
Changes in Fair Value Included in Net Loss

 

  
For the three months ended March 31, 2008

 

      
Change in Fair Value of

   

  
Interest Income (1)

 
Interest Expense (1)

 
Net Trust Assets

 

Trust Preferred
Securities

 
Total

 

            
Investment securities available-for-sale

 

$ 200
 

$ —
 

$ (4,290) $ —
 

$ (4,090)
Securitized mortgage collateral

 

(25,595) —
 

(3,229,500) —
 

(3,255,095)
Securitized mortgage borrowings

 

—
 

(75,675) 3,419,134
 

—
 

3,343,459
 

Derivative instruments
 

—
 

—
 

(181,816)(2) —
 

(181,816)
   



Trust preferred securities — (154) — (4,023) (4,177)
Total

 

$ (25,395) $ (75,829) $ 3,528(3) $ (4,023) $ (101,719)
 

(1)          Amounts represent interest income and interest expense accretion included in interest income and interest expense, respectively in the consolidated
statement of operations.
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(2)          Included in this amount is ($155.9) million in changes in the fair value of derivative instruments and $25.9 million in cash payments from the
securitization trusts for the three months ended March 31, 2008.

(3)          For the three months ended March 31, 2008, change in the fair value of trust assets, excluding REO was $3.5 million.  Excluded from the
$29.4 million change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO, in the accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows is $25.9 million in
cash payments from the securitization trusts related to the Company’s net derivative liabilities.

 
In connection with the fair value accounting for investment securities available-for-sale and securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings, interest

income and interest expense is recognized using effective yields, which are based, in part, on estimated fair values for these instruments.  As the market’s
expectation of future credit losses has increased between periods, market participants have demanded higher yields, which have resulted in significant
reductions in the fair values of these instruments.  These reductions in fair value have significantly increased the effective yields used for purposes of
recognizing interest income and interest expense on these instruments.

 
The change in fair value of the asset and liabilities above, excluding derivative instruments, are primarily due to the changes in credit risk.  The change in

fair value for derivative instruments is primarily due to the change in the forward LIBOR curve for the quarter.
 

 Non-recurring basis
 

The Company is required to measure certain assets and liabilities at fair value from time-to-time. These fair value measurements typically result from the
application of specific accounting pronouncements under GAAP. The fair value measurements are considered non-recurring fair value measurements under
SFAS 157.

 
Loans held-for-sale - Loans held-for-sale for which the fair value option was not elected are carried at lower of cost or market (LOCOM). When

available, such measurements are based upon what secondary markets offer for portfolios with similar characteristics, and are considered Level 2
measurements. If market pricing is not available, such measurements are significantly impacted by the Company’s expectations of other market participants’
assumptions, and are considered Level 3 measurements. The Company utilizes internal pricing processes to estimate the fair value of loans held-for-sale,
which is based on recent loan sales and estimates of the fair value of the underlying collateral. Loans held-for-sale, which are primarily included in assets of
discontinued operations, are considered Level 3 fair value measurements at March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 based on the lack of observable market
inputs.

 
Real estate owned - REO, which consists of residential real estate acquired in satisfaction of loans, is carried at net realizable value.  Upon foreclosure,

REO is adjusted to the estimated fair value of the residential real estate less estimated selling and holding costs, offset by expected mortgage insurance
proceeds to be received, if any.  Subsequently, REO is recorded at the lower of carrying value or estimated fair value less costs to sell.  Fair values of REO are
generally based on appraisals or market prices, and considered Level 2 measurements at March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008.

 
Lease liability — In connection with the discontinuation of our non-conforming mortgage, retail mortgage, warehouse lending and commercial

operations, a significant amount of office space that was previously occupied is no longer being used by the Company. The Company has subleased a
significant amount of this office space.  The Company has recorded a liability, included within discontinued operations, representing the fair value of the
minimum lease payments over the remaining life of the lease, offset by the expected proceeds from sublet revenue related to this office space.  This liability is
based on the present value techniques that incorporate the Company’s judgments about estimated sublet revenue and discount rates.  Therefore, this liability is
considered a Level 3 measurement at March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008.

 
The following tables present the fair values of those financial assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis at March 31, 2009 and December 31,

2008:
 

  
Non-recurring Fair Value Measurements

 
Total Gains (Losses)

 

  
As of March 31, 2009

 
For the Quarter Ended

 

  
Level 1

 
Level 2

 
Level 3

 
March 31, 2009

 

Loans held-for-sale (1)
 

—
 

—
 

$ 101,830
 

$ (72)
REO (2)

 

—
 

342,789
 

—
 

(85,658)
Lease liability (3)

 

—
 

—
 

(6,800) 58
 

 

(1)         Includes $0.4 million and $101.4 million of loans held-for-sale within continuing and discontinued operations, respectively at March 31, 2009.
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(2)         Includes $336.8 million and $6.0 million in REO within continuing and discontinued operations, respectively at March 31, 2009.  For the quarter
ended March 31, 2009, losses of $85.7 million related to additional impairment write-downs, included $84.3 million and $1.4 million within
continuing and discontinued operations, respectively.

(3)         Amounts are included in discontinued operations.
 

    



Non-recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Losses
  

As of December 31, 2008
 

For the Year Ended
 

  
Level 1

 
Level 2

 
Level 3

 
December 31, 2008

 

Loans held-for-sale (1)
 

—
 

—
 

$ 108,223
 

$ 45,960
 

 

(1)         Includes $0.4 million and $107.8 million of loans held-for-sale within continuing and discontinued operations, respectively at December 31, 2008.
 

Note C— Stock Options
 

The fair value of options granted, which is amortized to expense over the option vesting period, is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-
Merton option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:
 

  
Three Months

 

  
Ended March 31,

 

  
2009

 
2008

 

Risk-free interest rate
 

—
 

1.88% to 2.13%
 

Expected lives (in years)
 

—
 

3.25
 

Expected volatility (1)
 

—
 

87.3% - 89.9%
 

Expected dividend yield (2)
 

—
 

0.00%
 

Grant date fair value of share options
 

—
 

$7.14 - 7.76
 

 

(1)                     Expected volatilities are based on the historical volatility of the Company’s stock over the expected option life.
(2)                     Expected dividend yield is zero because a dividend on the common stock was not probable over the expected life of the options granted during the

quarters ended March 31, 2009 and 2008.
 
There were no stock options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2009.
 
The following table summarizes activity, pricing and other information for the Company’s stock options for the three months ended March 31, 2009:
 

    
Weighted-

 

    
Average

 

  
Number of

 
Exercise

 

  
Shares

 
Price ($)

 

Options outstanding at January 1, 2009
 

1,140,186
 

$ 37.18
 

Options granted
 

—
 

—
 

Options exercised
 

—
 

—
 

Options forfeited / cancelled
 

(500) 12.00
 

Options outstanding at March 31, 2009
 

1,139,686
 

$ 37.19
 

Options exercisable at March 31, 2009
 

295,760
 

$ 86.96
 

 
As of March 31, 2009, there was approximately $3.0 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested share-based compensation

arrangements granted under the plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.9 years.
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Note D—Reconciliation of Earnings Per Share
 

The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted net earnings per share including the dilutive effect of stock options and cumulative
redeemable preferred stock outstanding for the periods indicated:

 
  

For the Three Months
 

  
Ended March 31,

 

  
2009

 
2008

 

Numerator for basic earnings per share:
     

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations
 

$ 1,276
 

$ (4,503)
Net (loss) earnings from discontinued operations

 

(2,395) 688
 

Less: Cash dividends on cumulative redeemable preferred stock
 

—
 

(3,722)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

 

$ (1,119) $ (7,537)
Denominator for basic earnings per share:

     

Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period
 

7,618
 

7,610
 

Denominator for diluted earnings per share:
     

Diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period
 

7,618
 

7,610
 

Net effect of dilutive stock options
 

—
 

—
 

Diluted weighted average common shares
 

7,618
 

7,610
 

      
Net loss per common share - basic and diluted:

     

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations
 

$ 0.17
 

$ (1.08)
(Loss) earnings from discontinued operations

 

(0.32) 0.09
 

Net loss per share
 

$ (0.15) $ (0.99)
 

For the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, stock options to purchase 1.1 million and 1.3 million shares, respectively, were outstanding but
not included in the above weighted average calculations because they were anti-dilutive.

 



Note E—Segment Reporting
 

The Company has two reporting segments, the continuing operations and discontinued operations.  The following tables present the selected financial
data and operating results by reporting segments for the periods indicated:
 

  
Continuing

 
Discontinued

   

  
Operations

 
Operations

 
Consolidated

 

Balance Sheet Items as of March 31, 2009:
       

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

$ 5,505,729
 

$ —
 

$ 5,505,729
 

Loans held-for-sale
 

361
 

101,469
 

101,830
 

Total assets
 

6,021,719
 

137,947
 

6,159,666
 

Total liabilities
 

5,940,796
 

209,865
 

6,150,661
 

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)
 

80,923
 

(71,918) 9,005
 

        
Balance Sheet Items as of December 31, 2008:

       

Securitized mortgage collateral
 

$ 5,894,424
 

$ —
 

$ 5,894,424
 

Loans held-for-sale
 

454
 

107,769
 

108,223
 

Total assets
 

6,574,464
 

141,053
 

6,715,517
 

Total liabilities
 

6,489,024
 

217,241
 

6,706,265
 

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)
 

85,440
 

(76,188) 9,252
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Continuing

 
Discontinued

   

  
Operations

 
Operations

 
Consolidated

 

Statement of Operations Items for the three months ended
March 31, 2009:

       

Net interest income
 

$ 3,642
 

$ (413) $ 3,229
 

Non-interest income- net trust assets
 

4,729
 

—
 

4,729
 

Other non-interest income (expense)
 

5,520
 

(1,921) 3,599
 

Non-interest expense and income taxes
 

(12,615) (61) (12,676)
Net earnings (loss)

 

$ 1,276
 

$ (2,395) $ (1,119)
        
Statement of Operations Items for the three months ended

March 31, 2008:
       

Net interest income
 

$ 7,349
 

$ 1,671
 

$ 9,020
 

Non-interest income- net trust assets
 

(728) —
 

(728)
Other non-interest income

 

1,720
 

9,333
 

11,053
 

Non-interest expense and income taxes
 

(12,844) (10,316) (23,160)
Net (loss) earnings

 

$ (4,503) $ 688
 

$ (3,815)
 

Note F—Real Estate Owned (REO)
 

Real estate owned (REO), which consists of residential real estate acquired in satisfaction of loans, is carried at net realizable value, which includes the
estimated fair value of the residential real estate less estimated selling and holding costs, offset by expected mortgage insurance proceeds to be received, if
any. Adjustments to the loan carrying value required at the time of foreclosure affect the carrying amount of securitized mortgage collateral. Subsequent
write-downs in the net realizable value of REO are included in losses from real estate owned in the consolidated statements of operations.

 
Activity for the Company’s REO consisted of the following:

 
  

At March 31, 2009
 

At December 31, 2008
 

REO
 

$ 548,978
 

$ 635,285
 

Impairment (1)
 

(107,114) (35,533)
Ending balance

 

$ 441,864
 

$ 599,752
 

      
REO inside trusts

 

$ 440,916
 

$ 599,084
 

REO outside trusts (2)
 

948
 

668
 

Total
 

$ 441,864
 

$ 599,752
 

 

(1)         Amount represents REO related to former on-balance sheet securitizations, which were collapsed as the result of the Company exercising its
clean-up call options. This REO is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

(2)         Amount represents REO related to former on-balance sheet securitizations, which were collapsed as the result of the Company exercising its
clean-up call options. This REO is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

 
Note G— Reverse Repurchase Financing (Discontinued Operations)
 

The Company’s reverse repurchase financing, included in discontinued operations, is secured by the Company’s loans held-for-sale with an unpaid
principal balance of $203.3, restricted cash of $20.8 million and certain REOs.  The following table presents the outstanding balance of the Company’s
Restructured Financing as of the dates indicated:
 

  
Discontinued Operations

 

  
as of March 31,

 
as of December 31,

 

  
2009

 
2008

 



      
Reverse repurchase line (1)

 

$ 182,468
 

$ 188,677
 

 

(1)         This line, which is guaranteed by IMH, is no longer funding loans and was restructured in 2008 as described below.
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In September 2008, the Company entered into an agreement to restructure its reverse repurchase line (Restructured Financing) with its remaining
lender. The balance of this Restructured Financing was $182.5 million at March 31, 2009 and collateralized by loans held-for-sale within discontinued
operations. The agreement removed all technical defaults from financial covenant noncompliance and any associated margin calls for the term of the
agreement. The agreement calls for certain targets including a reduction of the borrowings balance to $100 million by March 2010 with an advance rate of no
more than 65 percent of the outstanding principal balance and $50 million by September 2010 with an advance rate of no more than 55 percent of the
outstanding principal balance. By meeting these targets, the agreement term can extend to March 2011. At March 31, 2009, the advance rate was 80 percent.
The agreement also calls for monthly principal paydowns of $1.5 million until the earlier of the Company raising capital or the end of the agreement term. If
the Company is successful in raising capital, approximately 10 percent of the gross proceeds will be required to be paid as an additional principal paydown
and the monthly principal paydown would then be reduced to $750,000. The interest rate is LIBOR plus 325 basis points, and all cash collected from the
securing mortgage loans is required to be paid to the lender. To the extent the cash collected from the collateral is not adequate to pay the interest expense due
on the borrowings, interest expense would be paid to the lender from the Company’s restricted cash account included in assets of discontinued operations or
the Company’s cash balances. Accomplishing the restructuring of this reverse repurchase line allows the Company to timely manage the remaining loans on
the line for the eventual collection, refinance, sale or securitization without the risk of receiving margin calls. Upon an event of default, the Company is
responsible for any shortfall if the value of the loans securing the financing is insufficient to repay the outstanding balance.  During the first quarter of 2009,
the Company paid an additional $4.5 million in principal paydowns as required under the restructured terms.

 
Note H—Subsequent Events
 

In April 2009, the Company’s officers and directors gave notice of the surrender of an aggregate of 581,000 options and the Board accepted and approved
the cancellation of those listed options.  In connection with the cancellation of these options, the Company will record non-cash compensation expense of
approximately $1.7 million during the second quarter.

 
In May 2009, the Company exchanged an aggregate of $51.3 million in trust preferred securities of Impac Capital Trusts #1 and #3 for junior

subordinated notes with an aggregate principal balance of $62.0 million, with a maturity date in March 2034. Under the terms of the exchange, the interest
rates for each note are reduced from 8.01 percent to 2.00 percent through 2013 and increase 1.00 percent per year through 2017. Starting in 2018, the interest
rates become variable at 3-month LIBOR plus 375 basis points.  In connection with the exchange, the Company paid a fee of $0.5 million.
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ITEM 2:                          MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 

(dollars in thousands, except per share data or as otherwise indicated)
 

Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (the Company or IMH), a
Maryland corporation incorporated in August 1995, and its subsidiaries, IMH Assets Corp. (IMH Assets), Integrated Real Estate Services Corporation
(IRES), Impac Warehouse Lending Group, Inc. (IWLG), and Impac Funding Corporation (IFC), together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries Impac Secured
Assets Corp. (ISAC) and Impac Commercial Capital Corporation (ICCC).

 
Forward-Looking Statements
 

This report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements, some of which are based on various assumptions and events that are
beyond our control, may be identified by reference to a future period or periods or by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as “may,” “will,”
“believe,” “expect,” “likely,” “should,” “could,” “anticipate,” or similar terms or variations on those terms or the negative of those terms. The forward-
looking statements are based on current management expectations. Actual results may differ materially as a result of several factors, including, but not limited
to the following: the ongoing volatility in the mortgage industry; our ability to successfully manage through the current market environment; our ability to
meet liquidity needs from current cash flows or generate new sources of revenue; management’s ability to successfully initiate mortgage-related fee-based
business strategies; the ability to make interest and dividend payments; our ability to reduce or eliminate dividend and interest payments on preferred stock
and trust preferred securities; increases in default rates and mortgage related losses; potential difficulties in satisfying conditions (payment and covenants) in
the Restructured Financing; our ability to obtain additional financing and the terms of any financing that we do obtain; inability to effectively liquidate
properties to mitigate losses; increase in loan repurchase requests and ability to adequately settle repurchase obligations; decreases in value of our residual
interests that differ from our assumptions; the ability of our common stock and preferred stock to continue trading in an active market; the outcome of
litigation or regulatory actions pending against us or other legal contingencies; and our compliance with applicable local, state and federal laws and
regulations and other general market and economic conditions.

 
For a discussion of these and other risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ from those contained in the forward-looking

statements, see “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2008, the other reports we file under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, and the additional
risk factors set forth below in this quarterly report. This document speaks only as of its date and we do not undertake, and specifically disclaim any obligation,
to publicly release the results of any revisions that may be made to any forward-looking statements to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated
events or circumstances after the date of such statements.

 



The Mortgage Banking Industry and Discussion of Relevant Fiscal Periods
 

The mortgage banking industry is continually vulnerable to current events that occur in the financial services industry. These events include changes in
economic indicators, government regulation, interest rates, price competition, geographic shifts, disposable income, housing prices, market liquidity, market
anticipation, and customer perception, as well as others. The factors that affect the industry change rapidly and can be unforeseeable.

 
Current events can diminish the relevance of “quarter over quarter” and “year-to-date over year-to-date” comparisons of financial information. In such

instances, the Company attempts to present financial information in its Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations that is the most relevant to its financial information.

 
Status of Operations, Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
Long-term mortgage portfolio
 

During the first quarter of 2009, the Company continues to be significantly and negatively affected by the deteriorating real estate market and the
weak economic environment. These factors have led to continued deterioration in the quality of the Company’s long-term mortgage portfolio, as evidenced by
the continued increases in delinquencies, foreclosures and credit losses. Existing conditions are unprecedented and inherently involve significant risks and
uncertainty to the Company.  The current market conditions have led to fewer sources of liquidity available to the Company to operate its business.  These
conditions continue to adversely affect the performance of the Company’s long-term mortgage portfolio, including significant losses on real estate owned.

 
New businesses
 

During the quarter, the Company has initiated various mortgage and real estate related fee-based businesses, including loan modifications, real estate
disposition, monitoring and surveillance services, real estate brokerage and lending services and escrow services, and has begun to generate revenues from
these businesses.  However, since these businesses are newly formed, there remains uncertainty about their future success.
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Liquidity and capital resources
 

During the first quarter of 2009, the Company continued to fund its operations primarily from the cash flows from its long-term mortgage portfolio, and
to a lesser extent includes the mortgage and real estate related fee-based businesses.

 
In January 2009, the Company fully satisfied $25.0 million in outstanding trust preferred securities of Impac Capital Trust #2 for $3.75 million
 
In May 2009, the Company exchanged an aggregate of $51.3 million in trust preferred securities of Impac Capital Trusts #1 and #3 for junior

subordinated notes with an aggregate principal balance of $62.0 million, with a maturity date in March 2034. Under the terms of the exchange, the interest
rates for each note are reduced from 8.01 percent to 2.00 percent through 2013 and increase 1.00 percent per year through 2017. Starting in 2018, the interest
rates become variable at 3-month LIBOR plus 375 basis points. The difference in principal balance between the original $51.3 million in trust preferred
securities and the $62.0 million in junior subordinated notes reflects the aforementioned reduction in interest rates. In connection with the exchange, the
Company paid a fee of $0.5 million.

 
In March 2009, the Company announced that it will continue to defer interest payments on its remaining $12.0 million in trust preferred securities of

Impac Capital Trust #4.  At March 31, 2009, interest that has been deferred and unpaid related to these trust preferred securities was $0.4 million.  The
Company has the right to defer payments of interest for a period of up to 20 consecutive quarterly interest payment periods for Impac Capital Trust #4. 
During the deferral period, interest on the trust preferred securities will bear additional interest at a rate equal to the coupon rate on the respective security.
Unless the Company again elects to defer interest payments, the Company is required to pay all accrued interest together with the additional interest at the
next payment date.

 
In March 2009, the Company announced that it will not be paying dividends for the quarter ended March 31, 2009 on the Company’s 9.375% Series B

Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock and 9.125% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock.  The Company has no present intentions to pay
dividends on the Series B and Series C Preferred Stock, however, unpaid dividends on the preferred stock will accumulate. Until such time as all cumulative
dividends on the preferred stock are paid, the Company may not pay dividends on, nor redeem, repurchase or make any distribution on, shares of its common
stock. At March 31, 2009 cumulative unpaid dividends on preferred stock totaled $7.4 million.  If the Company does not pay dividends on its preferred stock
for six or more quarterly periods (whether or not consecutive), preferred stockholders will be entitled to elect two additional directors to the Company’s Board
of Directors to serve until the Company is current on all dividends.

 
The primary use of liquidity within discontinued operations continues to be the Company’s restructured reverse repurchase financing (Restructured

Financing).  As of March 31, 2009, the balance of the Restructured Financing was $182.5 million secured by loans held for sale with an unpaid principal
balance of $203.3 million, restricted cash of $20.8 million and certain real estate owned.  Principal and interest received on the underlying collateral is
remitted to the lender monthly.  During the first quarter of 2009, the Company paid an additional $4.5 million in principal paydowns as required under the
restructured terms.

 
In order to reduce its obligations under its Series B and Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, the Company is considering repurchasing the

preferred stock in accordance with its terms, which may include the payment of accumulated dividends of $7.4 million.
 
If we are not successful in (i) realizing cash flows from our residual interests in securitizations, (ii) realizing cash flows from new mortgage and real

estate related fee-based businesses and (iii) restructuring trust preferred securities, we may not be able to satisfy our contractual obligations for 2010 and
subsequent years, including repayment of the Restructured Financing, interest payments on trust preferred securities and preferred stock dividends.
 

To better understand the financial position of the Company, we believe it is important to understand the composition of the Company’s stockholders’
equity (deficit) and to which segment of the business it relates.  At March 31, 2009, the equity (deficit) within our continuing and discontinued operations was
comprised of the following significant assets and liabilities:
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Condensed Components of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) by Segment

 

  
As of March 31, 2009

 

  
Continuing

 
Discontinued

   

  
Operations

 
Operations

 
Total

 

Cash
 

$ 38,313
 

$ 260
 

$ 38,573
 

Short-term investments
 

5,041
 

—
 

5,041
 

Residual interests in securitizations
 

24,619
 

—
 

24,619
 

Trust preferred securities ($65,470 par)
 

(11,090) —
 

(11,090)
Repurchase liabilities (1)

 

—
 

(65,982) (65,982)
Lease liability (2)

 

—
 

(6,800) (6,800)
Deferred charge

 

13,144
 

—
 

13,144
 

Net other assets
 

10,896
 

604
 

11,500
 

Stockholders’ equity (deficit)
 

$ 80,923
 

$ (71,918) $ 9,005
 

 

(1)         Balance includes the net amount owed to our lender, which are guaranteed by IMH, and the repurchase reserve.
(2)         Guaranteed by IMH.
 

Continuing operations
 

We currently have the following sources of cash earnings:
 

·                  cash flows from the long-term mortgage portfolio (residual interests in securitizations);
 
·                  master servicing fees from the long-term mortgage portfolio; and
 
·                  to a lesser extent, revenues from mortgage and real estate related fee-based businesses
 

Since our consolidated and unconsolidated securitization trusts are non-recourse, we have netted trust assets and liabilities to present the Company’s
interest in these trusts more simply, which are considered our residual interests in securitizations. For unconsolidated securitizations our residual interests
represent the fair value of investment securities available-for-sale. For consolidated securitizations, our residual interests are represented by the fair value of
securitized mortgage collateral and real estate owned, offset by the fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings and net derivative liabilities. We receive
cash flows from our residual interests in securitizations to the extent they are available after required distributions to bondholders and maintaining
overcollateralization levels within the trusts. The estimated fair value of the residual interests, represented by the difference in the fair value of trust assets and
trust liabilities, was $24.6 million at March 31, 2009, compared to $28.0 million at December 31, 2008.

 
The Company acts as the master servicer for mortgages included in our CMO and REMIC securitizations. The master servicing fees we earn are

generally 0.03 percent per annum on the declining principal balances of these mortgages plus interest income on cash held until remitted to investors.
 

During the first quarter of 2008, the Company’s sources of cash flow earnings also included real estate advisory fees.  The real estate advisory agreement
was terminated in the fourth quarter of 2008 and we received a fee of $27.0 million for agreeing to terminate this relationship.  During the quarter ended
March 31, 2008, we earned $3.8 million in real estate advisory fees.

 
For the three months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, we paid zero and $3.7 million, respectively in preferred stock dividends.   For the three months

ended March 31, 2009 and 2008, we paid $0.3 million and $2.0 million, respectively in interest on trust preferred securities.
 
At March 31, 2009, we had deferred charges of $13.1 million, which is amortized as a component of income tax expense in the consolidated statements

of operations over the estimated life of the mortgages retained in the securitized mortgage collateral. The deferred charges represent the deferral of income tax
expense on inter-company profits that resulted from the sale of mortgages from taxable subsidiaries to IMH in prior years. This balance is recorded as
required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) and does not have any realizable cash value.

 
Net other assets include $2.6 million in premises and equipment, $1.6 million in investment in capital trusts, $1.2 million in restricted cash and $2.2

million in prepaid expenses.
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At March 31, 2009, cash within our continuing operations decreased to $38.3 million from $46.2 million at December 31, 2008. However, during the
three months ended March 31, 2009, the Company invested $5.0 million in highly liquid short-term investments.

 
Discontinued operations
 

The Company’s most significant liabilities at March 31, 2009 relate to its repurchase liabilities and a lease liability within discontinued operations.
 
The repurchase liabilities consist of a repurchase reserve and the net amount owed to our lender for the Restructured Financing, which is collateralized by

loans held-for-sale, restricted cash balances and certain real estate owned. The balance of the Restructured Financing was approximately $182.5 million at
March 31, 2009. We are currently distributing all principal and interest received from the collateral securing the Restructured Financing to the lender. 
Additionally, the Restructured Financing calls for monthly principal paydowns of $1.5 million.



 
We were required to make normal and customary representations and warranties about the loans we had previously sold to investors. Our whole loan sale

agreements generally required us to repurchase loans if we breached a representation or warranty given to the loan purchaser. In addition, we also could be
required to repurchase loans as a result of borrower fraud or if a payment default occurs on a mortgage loan shortly after its sale. The repurchase reserve is an
estimate of losses from expected repurchases, and is based, in part, on the recent settlement of claims.  At March 31, 2009, the repurchase reserve was $13.6
million.

 
In connection with the discontinuation of our non-conforming mortgage, retail mortgage, warehouse lending and commercial operations, a significant

amount of office space that was previously occupied is no longer being used by the Company. The Company has subleased a significant amount of this office
space. At March 31, 2009, the Company had a liability of $6.8 million included within discontinued operations, representing the present value of the
minimum lease payments over the remaining life of the lease, offset by the expected proceeds from sublet revenue related to this office space.

 
Market Conditions
 

The mortgage market has faced continued adversity as the broad repricing of mortgage credit risk continued to cause the severe contraction in market
liquidity. Market conditions were particularly acute with respect to securities backed by non-conforming (including Alt-A loans, which were the Company’s
primary single-family loan product) where market participants were setting price levels based on widely varied opinions about investor yield requirements,
future loan performance and loan loss severity. Furthermore, the market has continued to try to quantify the ultimate loss rates that are going to be
experienced in the underlying assets in asset-backed securities.

 
Conditions in the secondary markets (the markets in which we historically sold or securitized mortgage loans), which dramatically worsened during the

third quarter of 2007 and throughout 2008, continue to be depressed into 2009 with investor concerns over credit quality and a deteriorating United States
economy and housing market. As a result, the capital markets remain very volatile and illiquid and have effectively been unavailable to the Company.

 
We believe there is currently no index for Alt-A mortgage product, but the general direction and magnitude of price movement in the ABX 2007-1index

is reflective of the disruption in the market and general price movement experienced by the Company’s securities.  The index, which does not include any
IMH bonds, is being used for illustrative purposes only because it is a non-conforming single-family mortgage index that has traded consistently in recent
years.  The ABX 2007-1 Index illustrates market prices for designated groups of subprime securities by credit rating. The index is shown here as an
illustration of the price volatility in the general non-conforming mortgage market since the beginning of 2007 and does not reflect actual pricing on IMH
bonds, which are backed by Alt-A loans rather than subprime loans. As shown below, the ABX 2007-1 Index displays dramatic declines in the value of such
securities.
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Effects of Recent Market Activity
 

As a result of the Company’s inability to sell or securitize non-conforming loans during the second half of 2007, the Company discontinued funding
loans. As a result, the Company discontinued substantially all of its mortgage (non-conforming single-family loans and commercial loans, which consist
primarily of multi-family loans) and warehouse lending operations.  Market conditions deteriorated in 2008 and continue to be depressed in 2009. As a result,
the Company’s investment in securitized non-conforming loans (residual interests) has declined in value primarily from increased estimated losses and
significant disruption in the market, evidenced by increased investor yield requirements. The decline in single-family home prices can be seen in the chart
below.
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As depicted in the chart above, average home prices peaked in June 2006 at 226.29 and continued their dramatic decline through February 2009.  The

Standard & Poor’s Case-Shiller 10-City Composite Home Price Index (the Index) for February 2009 was 154.70 (with the base of 100.00 for January 2000)
and hasn’t been this low since August 2003 when the Index was 153.61. Beginning in the third quarter of 2007, the Company believes there is a correlation
between the borrowers’ perceived equity in their homes and defaults. The original loan-to-value (defined as loan amount as a percentage of collateral value,
“LTV”) and original combined loan-to-value (defined as first lien plus total subordinate liens to collateral value, “CLTV”) ratios of single-family mortgages
remaining in the Company’s securitized mortgage collateral as of March 31, 2009 was 73 percent and 83 percent, respectively. The current LTV and CLTV
ratios likely increased from origination date as a result of the deterioration in the real estate market. We believe that home prices that have declined below the
borrower’s original purchase price have a higher risk of default within our portfolio. Based on the Index, home prices have declined 32 percent through
February 2009 from the 2006 peak. Further, we believe the home prices in California and Florida, the states with the highest concentration of our mortgages,
have declined even further than the Index. We have considered the deterioration in home prices in our loss estimates, which are a primary assumption used in
the valuation of securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings.

 
Critical Accounting Policies
 

Several of the critical accounting policies important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations require management to make
difficult and complex judgments that rely on estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain due to the affect of changing market conditions
and/or consumer behavior. We believe our most critical accounting policies relate to the valuation of: (1) assets and liabilities that are highly dependent on
internal valuation models and assumptions rather than market quotations (see Fair Value of Financial Instruments discussion below); (2) derivatives and other
hedging instruments; (3) real estate owned and loans held-for-sale, including estimates of fair value, and related lower of cost or market (LOCOM) valuation
reserve; and (4) repurchase reserve (included in liabilities of discontinued operations). Refer to our report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2008 for further discussion of our critical accounting policies and judgments.
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Management discusses its critical accounting policies and related estimates with the Company’s Audit Committee on a regular basis. We believe the
judgments, estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements are appropriate given the factual circumstances at the
time. However, given the sensitivity of our consolidated financial statements to these critical accounting policies, the use of other judgments, estimates and
assumptions could result in material differences in our results of operations or financial condition.

 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 

SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and outlines a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. SFAS 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (also referred to as an exit price). SFAS 157 categorizes fair value measurements into
a three-level hierarchy based on the extent to which the measurement relies on observable market inputs in measuring fair value. Level 1, which is the highest
priority in the fair value hierarchy, is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 is based on observable
market-based inputs, other than quoted prices, in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 3, which is the lowest priority in the fair value
hierarchy, is based on unobservable inputs. Assets and liabilities are classified within this hierarchy in their entirety based on the lowest level of any input that
is significant to the fair value measurement.

 



The use of fair value to measure our financial instruments is fundamental to our financial statements and is a critical accounting estimate because a
substantial portion of our assets and liabilities are recorded at estimated fair value. Financial instruments classified as Level 3 are generally based on
unobservable inputs, and the process to determine fair value is generally more subjective and involves a high degree of management judgment and
assumptions. These assumptions may have a significant effect on our estimates of fair value, and the use of different assumptions, as well as changes in
market conditions, could have a material effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

 
As a result of the lack of observable market data resulting from inactive markets, the Company has classified all its investment securities available-

for-sale, securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings, net derivative liabilities and trust preferred securities as Level 3 fair value measurements at
March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008. Level 3 assets and liabilities were 100 percent of total assets and liabilities at fair value at March 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008.
 
Recurring basis
 

Investment securities available-for-sale—The Company elected to carry all of its investment securities available-for-sale at fair value. The investment
securities consist primarily of non-investment grade mortgage-backed securities. The fair value of the investment securities are measured based upon our
expectation of inputs that other market participants would use. Such assumptions include our judgments about the underlying collateral, prepayment speeds,
credit losses, and certain other factors. Given the market disruption and lack of observable market data as of March 31, 2009, the fair value of the investment
securities available-for-sale were measured using significant internal expectations of market participants’ assumptions.

 
Securitized mortgage collateral—The Company elected to carry all of its securitized mortgage collateral at fair value. These assets consist primarily of

non-conforming single-family residential and multi-family mortgage loans securitized between 2002 and 2007. Fair value measurements are based on the
Company’s estimated cash flow models, non-binding quoted prices for the underlying bonds and yield analysis. The Company’s assumptions include our
expectations of inputs that other market participants would use in pricing these assets. These assumptions include our judgments about the underlying
collateral, prepayment speeds, estimated future credit losses, forward interest rates, investor yield requirements and certain other factors.

 
Securitized mortgage borrowings—The Company elected to carry all of its securitized mortgage borrowings at fair value. These borrowings consist of

individual tranches of bonds issued by securitization trusts and are primarily backed by non-conforming mortgage loans. Fair value measurements include our
judgments about the underlying collateral assumptions such as prepayment speeds, estimated future credit losses, forward interest rates, investor yield
requirements and certain other factors and are based upon non-binding quoted prices for the individual tranches of bonds, if available.

 
Trust preferred securities—The Company elected to carry all of its trust preferred securities at fair value. These securities were measured based upon an

analysis prepared by the Company, which considered the Company’s own credit risk, including consideration of recent settlements with trust preferred debt
holders, comparison to the terms and market prices of the Company’s preferred stock and negotiations of revised terms of restructured trust preferred
securities.
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Derivative assets and liabilities—For non-exchange traded contracts, fair value is based on the amounts that would be required to settle the positions with
the related counterparties as of the valuation date. Valuations of derivative assets and liabilities are based on observable market inputs, if available. To the
extent observable market inputs are not available, fair values measurements include the Company’s judgments about the future cash flows, forward interest
rates and certain other factors, including counterparty risk. These values also take into account the Company’s own credit standing, to the extent applicable,
thus included in the valuation of the derivative instrument is the value of the net credit differential between the counterparties to the derivative contract.

 
The Company’s primary objective is to limit the exposure to the variability in future cash flows attributable to the variability of one-month LIBOR,

which is the underlying index of adjustable rate securitized mortgage borrowings and short-term borrowings under reverse repurchase agreements. The
Company also monitors on an ongoing basis the prepayment risks that arise in fluctuating interest rate environments. The Company’s interest rate risk
management policies are formulated with the intent to offset the potential adverse effects of changing interest rates on securitized mortgage borrowings and
reverse repurchase agreements.

 
To mitigate exposure to the effect of changing interest rates on cash flows on securitized mortgage borrowings and reverse repurchase borrowings, the

Company purchased derivative instruments primarily in the form of interest rate swap agreements (swaps) and, to a lesser extent, interest rate cap agreements
(caps) and interest rate floor agreements (floors). Due to the closure of the mortgage operations, the Company has not entered into a new derivative
instrument since the third quarter of 2007.

 
On September 15, 2008, Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (LBHI) filed a petition for protection under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. As of that

date, LBHI, through affiliated companies, was an interest rate swap counterparty to several of the Company’s CMO and REMIC securitizations. At March 31,
2009, the estimated value of derivative liabilities to LBHI, through its affiliated companies was $92.3 million and is included in derivative liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheet. As the related securitization trusts are non-recourse to the Company, the Company is not required to replace or otherwise settle
any derivative positions affected by counterparty default within the consolidated trusts.

 
Non-recurring basis
 

The Company is required to measure certain assets and liabilities at fair value. These fair value measurements typically result from the application of
specific accounting pronouncements under GAAP. The fair value measurements are considered non-recurring fair value measurements under SFAS 157.

 
Loans held-for-sale - Loans held-for-sale for which the fair value option was not elected are carried at lower of cost or market (LOCOM). When

available, such measurements are based upon what secondary markets offer for portfolios with similar characteristics, and are considered Level 2
measurements. If market pricing is not available, such measurements are significantly impacted by the Company’s expectations of other market participants’
assumptions, and are considered Level 3 measurements. The Company utilizes internal pricing processes to estimate the fair value of loans held-for-sale,
which is based on recent loan sales and estimates of the fair value of the underlying collateral. Loans held-for-sale, which are primarily included in assets of
discontinued operations, are considered Level 3 fair value measurements at March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 based on the lack of observable market
inputs.

 



Real estate owned - REO, which consists of residential real estate acquired in satisfaction of loans, is carried at net realizable value.  Upon foreclosure,
REO is adjusted to the estimated fair value of the residential real estate less estimated selling and holding costs, offset by expected mortgage insurance
proceeds to be received, if any.  Subsequently, REO is recorded at the lower of carrying value or estimated fair value less costs to sell.  Fair values of REO are
generally based on appraisals or market prices, and considered Level 2 measurements at March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008.

 
Lease liability – In connection with the discontinuation of our non-conforming mortgage, retail mortgage, warehouse lending and commercial operations,

a significant amount of office space that was previously occupied is no longer being used by the Company. The Company has subleased a significant amount
of this office space.  The Company has recorded a liability, included within discontinued operations, representing the fair value of the minimum lease
payments over the remaining life of the lease, offset by the expected proceeds from sublet revenue related to this office space.  This liability is based on the
present value techniques that incorporate the Company’s judgments about estimated sublet revenue and discount rates.  Therefore, this liability is considered a
Level 3 measurement at March 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008.

 
We continue to refine our valuation methodologies as markets and products develop and the pricing for certain products becomes more or less

transparent. While we believe our valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with those of other market participants, the use of different methodologies
or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a materially different estimate of fair value as of the reporting date.
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Interest Income and Expense
 

Interest income on securitized mortgage collateral and interest expense on securitized mortgage borrowings are recorded using the effective yield for the
period based on the previous quarter’s estimated fair value.

 
Selected Financial Results for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2009
 
Continuing Operations
 

·                  Net earnings of $1.3 million for the first quarter of 2009, compared to a net loss of $4.5 million for the first quarter of 2008.
·                  Net interest income of $3.6 million for the first quarter of 2009, primarily from our long-term mortgage portfolio, compared to net interest income of

$7.3 million for the first quarter of 2008.
·                  Non-interest income - net trust assets of $4.7 million for the first quarter of 2009, compared to ($0.7) million for the first quarter of 2008
 

Discontinued Operations
 

·                  Net loss of $2.4 million for the first quarter of 2009, compared to net earnings of $0.7 million for the first quarter of 2008.
 
·                  Restructured Financing was $182.5 million at March 31, 2009, compared to $188.7 million at December 31, 2008.
 
·                  Loans held-for-sale were $101.5 million, including a fair value adjustment of $102.7 million at March 31, 2009, compared to loans held-for-sale of

$107.8 million, including a $109.1 million fair value adjustment at December 31, 2008.
 

Estimated Taxable Income
 

While the Company has generated significant net operating loss carryforwards in recent periods, we do not expect to generate sufficient taxable income
in future periods to be able to realize these tax benefits.  Therefore, we have recognized a full valuation allowance against these net operating loss
carryforwards in our consolidated balance sheets.

 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 
Financial Condition
 

Condensed Balance Sheet Data
 

  
March 31,

 
December 31,

 
Increase

 
%

 

  
2009

 
2008

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Investment securities available-for-sale
 

$ 1,322
 

$ 2,068
 

$ (746) (36)%
Securitized mortgage collateral

 

5,505,729
 

5,894,424
 

(388,695) (7)
Derivative assets

 

37
 

37
 

—
 

—
 

Real estate owned (REO)
 

440,916
 

599,084
 

(158,168) (26)
Total trust assets

 

5,948,004
 

6,495,613
 

(547,609) (8)
          
Assets of discontinued operations

 

137,947
 

141,053
 

(3,106) (2)
Other assets

 

73,715
 

78,851
 

(5,136) (7)
Total assets

 

$ 6,159,666
 

$ 6,715,517
 

$ (555,851) (8)%
          
Securitized mortgage borrowings

 

$ 5,691,028
 

$ 6,193,984
 

$ (502,956) (8)%
Derivative liabilities

 

232,357
 

273,584
 

(41,227) (15)
Total trust liabilities

 

5,923,385
 

6,467,568
 

(544,183) (8)
          
Liabilities of discontinued operations

 

209,865
 

217,241
 

(7,376) (3)
Other liabilities

 

17,411
 

21,456
 

(4,045) (19)
Total liabilities

 

6,150,661
 

6,706,265
 

(555,604) (8)
Total stockholders’ equity

 

9,005
 

9,252
 

(247) (3)
   



Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 6,159,666 $ 6,715,517 $ (555,851) (8)%
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Total assets and liabilities were $6.2 billion at March 31, 2009 as compared to $6.7 billion at December 31, 2008.  The decrease in total assets and
liabilities are primarily attributable to continued decreases in fair values related to the Company’s trust assets and liabilities as summarized below:

 
·                  Securitized mortgage collateral decreased $388.7 million to $5.5 billion at March 31, 2009.  The decrease in securitized mortgage collateral was

the result of a decline in fair value of $72.3 million and reductions in principal balances (resulting from transfers to REO and principal
paydowns) of $316.4 million.

·                  REO within the Company’s securitization trusts decreased $158.2 million during the quarter to $440.9 million at March 31, 2009.  Increases in
REO from foreclosures totaled $118.6 million.  Offsetting the increase in REO from foreclosures were $192.5 million in liquidations and $84.3
million in additional lower of cost or market write-downs subsequent to foreclosure.

·                  Securitized mortgage borrowings decreased $503.0 million to $5.7 billion at March 31, 2009.  The decrease in securitized mortgage borrowings
was the result of a decrease in fair value of $23.4 million and reductions in outstanding balances (resulting from principal paydowns) of $479.1
million.

·                  Derivative liabilities, net decreased $41.2 million during the quarter to $232.3 million at March 31, 2009.  The decrease is the result of a $16.2
million negative change in fair value, offset by cash payments from the securitization trusts of $57.4 million.

 
Since our consolidated and unconsolidated securitization trusts are non-recourse to the Company, our economic risk is limited to our residual interests in

these securitization trusts. Therefore, we have netted trust assets and trust liabilities to present these residual interests more simply. Our residual interests in
securitizations are segregated between our single-family (SF) residential and multi-family (MF) residential portfolios and are represented by the difference
between trust assets and trust liabilities. For unconsolidated securitizations, our residual interests represent the fair value of investment securities available-
for-sale. For consolidated securitizations, our residual interests are represented by the fair value of securitized mortgage collateral and net realizable value of
real estate owned, offset by the fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings and net derivative liabilities. The following tables present the estimated fair
value of our residual interests by securitization vintage year and other related assumptions used to derive these values at March 31, 2009:

 

  

Estimated Fair Value of 
Residual Interests by Vintage Year

 

  
SF

 
MF

 
Total

 

 

2002-2003 (1)
 

9,177
 

4,410
 

13,587
 

  

2004
 

3,962
 

4,426
 

8,388
 

  

2005 (2)
 

312
 

600
 

912
 

  

2006 (2)
 

55
 

1,481
 

1,536
 

  

2007 (2)
 

—
 

196
 

196
 

  

Total
 

13,506
 

11,113
 

24,619
 

        
Weighted avg. prepayment rate

 

14% 19% 14%
Weighted avg. discount rate (3)

 

49% 48% 49%
 

(1)
 

2002-2003 vintage year includes CMO 2007-A, since the majority of the mortgages collateralized in this securitization were originated during
this period.

(2)
 

The estimated fair values of residual interests in vintage years 2005 through 2007 is reflective of higher estimated future losses and investor yield
requirements compared to earlier vintage years.

(3)
 

Discount rates were 30 percent on SF and MF prepayment penalties.
 
The fair value of trust assets is essentially the fair value of trust liabilities plus the fair value of the residual interests. The credit loss, prepayment and

forward interest rate assumptions used in the fair value process were the same for trust assets, liabilities and residual interests, as the collateral assumptions
determine collateral cash flows which are used to pay the bonds and residual interests. The only difference in assumptions was between the investor yield
requirements on trust assets and liabilities (trust liabilities were slightly less on those securitization trusts with residual interests) and the discount rates used
for residual interests. The table below reflects the estimated future credit losses and investor yield requirements for trust assets by product (SF and MF) and
securitization vintage:
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Estimated Future Losses (1)

 
Investor Yield Requirement (2)

 

  
SF

 
MF

 
SF

 
MF

 

2002-2003
 

5% 2% 17% 27%
 

2004
 

7% 2% 33% 25%
 

2005
 

17% 8% 49% 28%
 

2006
 

29% 16% 39% 25%
 

2007
 

29% 15% 35% 31%
 

(1)          Estimated future losses derived by dividing future projected losses by current unpaid principal balances.
(2)          Investor yield requirements represent the Company’s estimate of the yield third-party market participants would require to price our trust assets and

liabilities given our prepayment, credit loss and forward interest rate assumptions.
 
The following table presents selected financial data as of the dates indicated:
 



As of and Year-to-Date Ended,
  

March 31,
 

December 31,
 

March 31,
 

  
2009

 
2008

 
2008

 

Prior 12-month constant prepayment rate (CPR) - Residential
 

11% 11% 20%
Prior 12-month constant prepayment rate (CPR) - Commercial

 

11% 10% 10%
Total non-performing loans

 

$ 3,278,977
 

$ 3,040,291
 

$ 2,359,590
 

Total non-performing loans to total loans
 

21.8% 19.4% 13.3%
Total non-performing assets (1)

 

$ 3,727,684
 

$ 3,646,742
 

$ 2,870,087
 

Total non-performing assets to total assets (2)
 

25.4% 25.8% 13.9%
 

(1)          Non-performing assets include the unpaid principal balance of non-performing loans (loans that are 90 days or more delinquent, including loans in
foreclosure and delinquent bankruptcies) and REO

(2)          Non-performing assets to total assets is presented as the fair value of loans 90 or more days delinquent, foreclosures and delinquent bankruptcies
plus REO as a percentage of total assets.

 
We believe that in order for us to generate cash flows from the long-term mortgage portfolio, we must successfully manage the following operational and

market risks:
 
·                 liquidity risk;
 
·                 credit risk;
 
·                 interest rate risk; and
 
·                 prepayment risk.
 
Liquidity Risk.  Refer to “Status of Operations, Liquidity and Capital Resources.”
 
Credit risk.  We manage credit risk by actively managing delinquencies and defaults through our servicers. Starting with the second half of 2007 we have

not retained any mortgages in our long-term mortgage portfolio. Our securitized mortgage collateral primarily consists of Alt-A mortgages which are
generally within typical Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac guidelines but have loan characteristics, which may include higher loan balances, higher loan-to-value
ratios or lower documentation requirements (including stated-income loans), that make them non-conforming under those guidelines.

 
As of March 31, 2009, single-family and multi-family securitized mortgage collateral had an original weighted average credit score of 701 and 731, an

original weighted average LTV ratio of 73 and 66 percent and an original CLTV of 83 percent and 66 percent, respectively. The current LTV and CLTV ratios
may have increased from origination date as a result of the deterioration of the real estate market.
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Using historical losses, current portfolio statistics and market conditions and available market data, the Company has estimated future loan losses, which
are included in the fair value adjustment to our securitized mortgage collateral. While the credit performance for the loans has been clearly far worse than the
Company’s initial expectations when the loans were originated, the ultimate level of realized losses will largely be influenced by events that will likely unfold
over the next several years, including the severity of housing price declines and overall strength of the economy. If market conditions continue to deteriorate
in excess of our expectations, the Company may need to recognize additional fair value reductions to our securitized mortgage collateral, which may also
affect the value of the related securitized mortgage borrowings.

 
We monitor our servicers to attempt to ensure that they perform loss mitigation, foreclosure and collection functions according to their servicing practices

and each securitization trust’s pooling and servicing agreement. We have met with the management of our servicers to assess our borrowers’ current ability to
pay their mortgages and to make arrangements with selected delinquent borrowers which will result in the best interest of the trust, borrower and the
Company, in an effort to minimize the number of mortgages which become seriously delinquent. When resolving delinquent mortgages, servicers are required
to take timely action. The servicer is required to determine payment collection under various circumstances, which will result in the maximum financial
benefit. This is accomplished by either working with the borrower to bring the mortgage current or by foreclosing and liquidating the property. When a
borrower fails to make required payments on a mortgage and does not cure the delinquency within 60 days, we generally record a notice of default and
commence foreclosure proceedings, or arrange alternative terms of forbearance. If the mortgage is not reinstated within the time permitted by law for
reinstatement, the property may then be sold at a foreclosure sale. At a foreclosure sale, the trusts consolidated on our balance sheet generally acquire title to
the property.

 
We use the Mortgage Bankers Association (MBA) method to define delinquency as a contractually required payment being 30 days or more past due. We

measure delinquencies from the date of the last payment due date in which a payment was received. Delinquencies for loans 60 days late or greater,
foreclosures and delinquent bankruptcies were $3.7 billion or 24.8 percent as of March 31, 2009.

 
The following table summarizes the unpaid principal balances of non-performing loans in our mortgage portfolio, included in securitized mortgage

collateral, loans held-for-investment and loans held-for-sale for continuing and discontinued operations combined, that were 60 or more days delinquent
(utilizing the MBA method) for the periods indicated:
 
  

At March 31,
   

At December 31,
   

  
2009

 
%

 
2008

 
%

 

Loans held for sale (1)
         

60 - 89 days delinquent
 

$ 9,517
 

0.1% $ 13,694
 

0.1%
90 or more days delinquent

 

66,271
 

0.4
 

63,541
 

0.4
 

Foreclosures (2)
 

73,609
 

0.5
 

65,661
 

0.4
 

Total 60+ days delinquent loans held-for-sale
 

149,397
 

1.0
 

142,896
 

0.9
 

          
         



Securitized mortgage collateral
60 - 89 days delinquent

 

$ 435,054
 

2.9% $ 494,960
 

3.2%
90 or more days delinquent

 

1,459,021
 

9.7
 

1,096,366
 

7.0
 

Foreclosures (2)
 

1,440,503
 

9.6
 

1,614,472
 

10.3
 

Delinquent bankruptcies (3)
 

239,573
 

1.6
 

200,251
 

1.3
 

Total 60+ days delinquent long-term mortgage portfolio
 

3,574,151
 

23.8
 

3,406,049
 

21.7
 

Total 60 or more days delinquent
 

$ 3,723,548
 

24.8
 

$ 3,548,945
 

22.7
 

Total mortgages owned
 

$ 15,018,922
   

$ 15,666,243
   

 

(1)          Loans held-for-sale are substantially included in discontinued operations in the consolidated balance sheets.
(2)          Represents properties in the process of foreclosure.
(3)          Represents bankruptcies that are 30 days or more delinquent.
 

The following table summarizes securitized mortgage collateral, loans held-for-investment, loans held-for-sale and real estate owned, that were non-
performing for continuing and discontinued operations combined for the periods indicated (excludes 60-89 days delinquent):
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At March 31,
   

At December 31,
   

  
2009

 
%

 
2008

 
%

 

90 or more days delinquent, foreclosures and delinquent bankruptcies
 

$ 3,278,977
 

88% $ 3,040,291
 

83%
Real estate owned

 

448,707
 

12% 606,451
 

17%
Total non-performing assets

 

$ 3,727,684
 

100% $ 3,646,742
 

100%
 

Non-performing assets consist of non-performing loans (mortgages that are 90 days or more delinquent, including loans in foreclosure and delinquent
bankruptcies) plus REO. It is our policy to place a mortgage on non-accrual status when it becomes 90 days delinquent and to reverse from revenue any
accrued interest, except for interest income on securitized mortgage collateral when the scheduled payment is received from the servicer. The servicers are
required to advance principal and interest on loans within the securitization trusts to the extent the advances are considered recoverable.  As of March 31,
2009, non-performing assets (representing the fair value of loans 90 or more days delinquent, foreclosures and delinquent bankruptcies plus REO) as a
percentage of the total assets was 25 percent. At December 31, 2008, non-performing assets to total assets was 26 percent.

 
Real estate owned, which consists of residential real estate acquired in satisfaction of loans, is carried at the lower of cost or net realizable value less

estimated selling costs. Adjustments to the carrying value of REO at the time of foreclosure are included in the change in the fair value of net trust assets.
Changes in the Company’s estimates of net realizable value subsequent to the time of foreclosure and through the time of ultimate disposition are recorded as
gains or losses from real estate owned in the consolidated statements of operations. Real estate owned, for continuing and discontinued operations, at
March 31, 2009 decreased $157.7 million or 26 percent from December 31, 2008 as a result of increased liquidations during the period.  Foreclosures
continue to increase resulting from higher delinquencies and deterioration in the prevailing real estate market and, in part, due to borrowers’ inability to obtain
replacement financing.

 
We realized a loss on sale of real estate owned in the amount $43.9 million for the first quarter of 2009 as compared to a gain of $3.5 million for the first

quarter of 2008.  Additionally, during the first quarter of 2009, the Company recorded writedowns of the net realizable value of the REO in the amount of
$84.3 million as compared to $7.7 million for the first quarter of 2008, which reflects the decline in value of the REO from the foreclosure date.

 
The following table presents the balances of REO for continuing operations:
 

  
At March 31, 2009

 
At December 31, 2008

 

REO
 

$ 548,978
 

$ 635,285
 

Impairment (1)
 

(107,114) (35,533)
Ending balance

 

$ 441,864
 

$ 599,752
 

      
REO inside trusts

 

$ 440,916
 

$ 599,084
 

REO outside trusts (2)
 

948
 

668
 

Total
 

$ 441,864
 

$ 599,752
 

 

(1)         Impairment represents the cumulative writedowns of net realizable value subsequent to foreclosure.
(2)         Amount represents REO related to former on-balance sheet securitizations, which were collapsed as the result of the Company exercising its

clean-up call options. This REO is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
 

In calculating the cash flows to assess the fair value of the securitized mortgage collateral, the Company estimates the future losses embedded in our loan
portfolio. In evaluating the adequacy of these losses, management takes many factors into consideration. For instance, a detailed analysis of historical loan
performance data is accumulated and reviewed. This data is analyzed for loss performance and prepayment performance by product type, origination year and
securitization issuance. The data is also broken down by collection status. Our estimate of losses for these loans is developed by estimating both the rate of
default of the loans and the amount of loss in the event of default. The rate of default is assigned to the loans based on their attributes (e.g., original loan-to-
value, borrower credit score, documentation type, geographic location, etc.) and collection status. The rate of default is based on analysis of migration of
loans from each aging category. The loss severity is determined by estimating the net proceeds from the ultimate sale of the foreclosed property. The results of
that analysis are then applied to the current mortgage portfolio and an estimate is created. We believe that pooling of mortgages with similar characteristics is
an appropriate methodology in which to evaluate the future loan losses.
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Management recognizes that there are qualitative factors that must be taken into consideration when evaluating and measuring losses in the loan
portfolios. These items include, but are not limited to, economic indicators that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay, changes in value of collateral,
political factors, market conditions, competitor’s performance, market perception, historical losses, and industry statistics. The assessment for losses, is based
on delinquency trends and prior loss experience and management’s judgment and assumptions regarding various matters, including general economic
conditions and loan portfolio composition. Management continually evaluates these assumptions and various relevant factors affecting credit quality and
inherent losses.

 
Interest Rate Risk. Refer to Item 3. “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.”
 
Prepayment Risk. The Company uses prepayment penalties as a method of partially mitigating prepayment risk for those borrowers that have the ability

to refinance. Historically, mortgage industry evidence suggests that changes in home appreciation rates and lower payment option mortgage products had
been a significant factor affecting borrowers refinancing decisions. However, the recent economic downturn, lack of available credit and decline in property
values has limited borrowers’ ability to refinance. Additionally, as mortgage rates increase and housing prices decline, borrowers will find it more difficult to
refinance to obtain cheaper financing. If borrowers are unable to pay their mortgage payments at the adjusted rate, delinquencies may increase. The three-
month average combined voluntary prepayment rate of single-family and multi-family loans held as securitized mortgage collateral increased to 12 percent at
March 31, 2009 from 10 percent as of December 31, 2008.

 
Results of Operations
 
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2009 compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2008
 

Condensed Statements of Operations Data
 
  

For the Three Months Ended March 31,
 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2009

 
2008

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Interest income
 

$ 712,649
 

$ 271,955
 

$ 440,694
 

162%
Interest expense

 

709,007
 

264,606
 

444,401
 

168
 

Net interest income
 

3,642
 

7,349
 

(3,707) (50)
Total non-interest income

 

10,249
 

992
 

9,257
 

933
 

Total non-interest expense
 

10,617
 

6,318
 

4,299
 

68
 

Income tax expense
 

1,998
 

6,526
 

(4,528) (69)
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations

 

1,276
 

(4,503) 5,779
 

128
 

Net (loss) earnings from discontinued operations, net
 

(2,395) 688
 

(3,083) (448)
Net loss

 

$ (1,119) $ (3,815) $ 2,696
 

71%
          
Net loss per common share - basic and diluted:

 

$ (0.15) $ (0.99) $ 0.84
 

85%
 
Net Interest Income
 

We earn net interest income primarily from mortgage assets which include securitized mortgage collateral, loans held-for-sale and investment securities
available-for-sale, or collectively, “mortgage assets,” and, to a lesser extent, interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents.  Interest expense is
primarily interest paid on borrowings on mortgage assets, which include securitized mortgage borrowings and reverse repurchase agreements. Interest income
and interest expense during the period represents the effective yield, based on the fair value of the trust assets and liabilities.

 
The following table summarizes average balance, interest and weighted average yield on mortgage assets and borrowings, included within continuing and

discontinued operations, for the periods indicated.  Cash receipts and payments on derivative instruments hedging interest rate risk related to our securitized
mortgage borrowings are not included in the results below. These cash receipts and payments are included as a component of the change in fair value of net
trust assets.
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For the Three Months Ended March 31,
 

  
2009

 
2008

 

  
Average

     
Average

     

  
Balance

 
Interest

 
Yield

 
Balance

 
Interest

 
Yield

 

MORTGAGE ASSETS
             

Investment securities, available-for-sale
 

$ 1,421
 

$ 130
 

36.59% $ 15,144
 

$ 733
 

19.36%
Securitized mortgage collateral

 

5,700,077
 

712,080
 

49.97
 

13,672,728
 

269,897
 

7.90
 

Loans held-for-investment and held-for-sale (1)
 

106,029
 

1,129
 

4.26
 

212,811
 

4,256
 

8.00
 

Total mortgage assets\ interest income
 

$ 5,807,527
 

$ 713,339
 

49.13% $ 13,900,683
 

$ 274,886
 

7.91%
              
BORROWINGS

             

Securitized mortgage borrowings
 

$ 5,942,506
 

$ 708,465
 

47.69% $ 13,835,280
 

$ 261,816
 

7.57%
Reverse repurchase agreements

 

184,907
 

1,715
 

3.71
 

285,808
 

3,362
 

4.71
 

Total borrowings on mortgage assets\ interest
expense

 

$ 6,127,413
 

$ 710,180
 

46.36% $ 14,121,088
 

$ 265,178
 

7.51%
              
Net Interest Spread (2)

   

$ 3,159
 

2.77%
  

$ 9,708
 

0.40%
Net Interest Margin (3)

     

0.22%
    

0.28%
 



(1)          The held-for-sale balance excludes the lower of cost or market (LOCOM) write-down on the loans.
(2)          Net interest spread on mortgage assets is calculated by subtracting the weighted average yield on total borrowings on mortgage assets from the

weighted average yield on total mortgage assets.
(3)          Net interest margin on mortgage assets is calculated by subtracting interest expense on total borrowings on mortgage assets from interest income on

total mortgage assets and then dividing by total average mortgage assets.
 
Net interest income spread for the three months ended March 31, 2009 decreased $6.5 million to $3.2 million from $9.7 million for the three months

ended March 31, 2008.  The decrease in net interest spread was primarily attributable to overall declines in averages balances between periods, offset by an
increase in the net interest spread from 0.40 percent for the quarter ended March 31, 2008 to 2.77 percent for the three months ended March 31, 2009.

 
During the first quarter of 2009, the yield on mortgage assets increased to 49.13 percent from 7.91 percent in the comparable 2008 period.  The yield on

total borrowings increased to 46.36 percent for the first quarter of 2009 from 7.51 percent for comparable 2008 period.  In connection with the fair value
accounting for investment securities available-for-sale and securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings, interest income and interest expense is recognized
using effective yields, which are based, in part, on estimated fair values for these instruments.  As the market’s expectation of future credit losses has
increased between periods, market participants have demanded higher yields, which have resulted in significant reductions in the fair values of these
instruments.  These reductions in fair value have significantly increased the effective yields used for purposes of recognizing interest income and interest
expense on these instruments.

 
Non-Interest Income
 

Changes in Non-Interest Income
 
  

For the Three Months Ended March 31,
 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2009

 
2008

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO
 

132,930
 

3,528
 

129,402
 

3,668%
Losses from real estate owned

 

(128,201) (4,256) (123,945) (2,912)
Non-interest income - net trust assets

 

4,729
 

(728) 5,457
 

750
 

Change in fair value of trust preferred securities
 

12
 

(4,023) 4,035
 

100
 

Real estate advisory fees
 

—
 

3,845
 

(3,845) (100)
Other

 

5,508
 

1,898
 

3,610
 

190
 

Total non-interest income
 

$ 10,249
 

$ 992
 

$ 9,257
 

933%
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Non-interest income – net trust assets. Since our consolidated and unconsolidated securitization trusts are non-recourse to the Company, our economic
risk is limited to our residual interests in these securitization trusts. To better understand the economics on our residual interests in securitizations, it is
necessary to consider the net effect of changes in fair value of net trust assets.  ..  All estimated future losses are included in the estimate of the fair value of
securitized mortgage collateral.  Losses on REO are reported separately in the consolidated statement of operations.  Since REO is a nonfinancial asset, REO
is the only component of trust assets and liabilities that is not recorded at fair value.  Therefore, REO values at the time of sale  or losses from further write-
downs are recorded separately in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations.  The net effect of changes in value related to our investment in all trust
assets and liabilities is shown as non-interest income — net trust assets.  Non-interest income related to our net trust assets (residual interests in
securitizations) was $4.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009, compared to a loss of $0.7 million in the comparable 2008 period.  The
individual components of the non-interest income from net trust assets was comprised of:

 
Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO.  For the quarter ended March 31, 2009, the Company recognized a $132.9 million gain from the

change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO.  This gain was comprised of gains resulting from the increase in fair value of investment securities-
for-sale and a reduction in the fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings of $0.9 million and $697.2 million, respectively.  Offsetting these gains were
reductions in the fair value of securitized mortgage collateral and derivative instruments of $549.0 million and $16.2 million, respectively.

 
For the quarter ended March 31, 2008, the Company recognized a $3.5 million gain from the change in fair value of net trust assets.  This gain was comprised
of gains resulting from the reduction in the fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings of $3.4 billion.  Offsetting these gains were reductions in the fair
value of investment securities, available-for-sale, securitized mortgage collateral and derivative instruments of $4.3 million, $3.2 billion and $181.8 million,
respectively.
 

The overall reductions in fair value of the securitized mortgage collateral, securitized mortgage borrowings and derivative instruments for the three
months ended March 31, 2009 and 2008 are the result of decreases in London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) reflected in the forward yield curve, as well as
decreases in the market prices of our mortgage-backed securities.

 
Losses from real estate owned.  Losses from real estate owned were $128.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009.  This loss was comprised

of a $43.9 million loss on sale of real estate owned, coupled with $84.3 million in additional lower of cost or market adjustments during the period.  During
the first quarter of 2009, loss severities resulting from liquidations in areas where we have high concentration of foreclosed properties (such as California and
Florida) have increased significantly over previous periods as a result of continued deterioration in the U.S. economy and real estate markets.  These
continued declines in housing prices have resulted in liquidations of foreclosed assets at prices below expected levels as wells as additional impairment write-
downs of REO since foreclosure.

 
Losses from real estate owned were $4.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008, comprised of $3.5 million in gains from the sale of real

estate owned, offset by $7.7 million in additional lower of cost or market adjustments.
 
Change in the fair value of trust preferred securities.  Change in the fair value of trust preferred securities was a gain of $12 thousand for the three

months ended March 31, 2009, compared to a loss of $4.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008.  Trust preferred securities are measured based
upon an analysis prepared by the Company, which considers the Company’s own credit risk, including consideration of recent settlements with trust preferred
debt holders, comparison to the terms and market prices of the Company’s preferred stock and negotiations of revised terms of restructured trust preferred



securities.  For the three months ended March 31, 2009, the fair value of trust preferred securities remained essentially unchanged.  During the quarter, the
Company fully satisfied $25 million in outstanding trust preferred securities for $3.75 million.  For the three months ended March 31, 2008, the change in fair
value of trust preferred securities was a loss of $4.0 million as a result of the change in trust preferred securities to $45.1 million at March 31, 2008, compared
to $40.9 million at January 1, 2008.
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Non-Interest Expense
 

Changes in Non-Interest Expense
 

  
For the Three Months Ended March 31,

 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2009

 
2008

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

General and administrative
 

$ 4,339
 

$ 3,988
 

$ 351
 

9%
Personnel expense

 

6,278
 

2,330
 

3,948
 

169
 

Total operating expense
 

$ 10,617
 

$ 6,318
 

$ 4,299
 

68%
 

Total non-interest expense was $10.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009, compared to $6.3 million for the comparable period of 2008. 
The $4.3 million increase in non-interest expense was primarily attributable to a $3.9 million increase in personnel expenses over the prior quarter, as a
greater amount of the Company’s personnel were utilized within the continuing operations versus discontinued operations.  The Company has intentionally
maintained certain personnel for new mortgage and real estate related fee-based businesses.  However, personnel costs of both continuing and discontinued
operations decreased by $1.0 million to $6.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009, compared to $7.6 million in the comparable period of 2008,
as a result of overall reductions in workforce between periods.

 
Results of Operations by Business Segment
 
Continuing Operations
 

Condensed Statements of Operations Data
 
  

For the Three Months Ended March 31,
 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2009

 
2008

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Net interest income
 

$ 3,642
 

$ 7,349
 

$ (3,707) (50)%
          
Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO

 

132,930
 

3,528
 

129,402
 

3,668
 

Losses from real estate owned
 

(128,201) (4,256) (123,945) (2,912)
Non-interest income- net trust assets

 

4,729
 

(728) 5,457
 

750
 

Change in fair value of trust preferred securities
 

12
 

(4,023) 4,035
 

100
 

Other non-interest expense
 

5,508
 

5,743
 

(235) (4)
Total non-interest income

 

10,249
 

992
 

9,257
 

933
 

          
Non-interest expense and income taxes

 

12,615
 

12,844
 

(229) (2)
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations

 

$ 1,276
 

$ (4,503) $ 5,779
 

128%
 

Net earnings for the quarter ended March 31, 2009 increased $5.8 million to net earnings of $1.3 million from a net loss of $4.5 million for the
comparable period of 2008.  This increase is primarily attributable to a $9.3 million increase in total non-interest income offset by a $3.7 million decrease in
net interest income.  Non-interest income from net trust assets increased $5.5 million to a $4.7 million gain in the first quarter of 2009, compared to a loss of
$0.7 million for the comparable period in 2008.  The increase is due to the downward shift in LIBOR rates between periods, which has resulted in increases in
future expected net cash flows on net trust assets between periods.
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Discontinued Operations
 

Condensed Statements of Operations Data
 

  
For the Three Months Ended March 31,

 

      
Increase

 
%

 

  
2009

 
2008

 
(Decrease)

 
Change

 

Net interest (expense) income
 

$ (413) $ 1,671
 

$ (2,084) (125)%
          
Gain (loss) on sale of loans

 

42
 

(465) 507
 

109
 

(Provision) recovery for repurchases
 

(756) 10,258
 

(11,014) (107)
Other loss

 

(1,207) (460) (747) (162)
Personnel expense

 

(347) (5,293) 4,946
 

93
 

Non-interest expense and income taxes
 

286
 

(5,023) 5,309
 

106
 

Net loss (earnings)
 

$ (2,395) $ 688
 

$ (3,083) (448)%
 



Net loss for the discontinued operations was $2.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009, compared to net earnings of $0.7 million for the
comparable period in 2008.  The change is primarily due to the following:
 

·                  decrease of $2.1 million in net interest income
 
·                  increase of $11.0 million in provision for repurchases
 
·                  decrease in personnel expense of $4.9 million
 
·                  decrease in non-interest expense and income taxes of $5.3 million.
 
Provision for repurchases increased to an expense of $0.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009, compared to a recovery of $10.3 million in

the comparable period of 2008.  The $11.0 million decrease is the result of the settlement of $113 million in repurchase obligations during the first quarter of
2008.

 
The $4.9 million decrease in personnel expense during the three months ended March 31, 2009 over the comparable period was a result of more costs

being allocated to continuing operations due to the discontinuation of the mortgage operations. However, personnel costs of both continuing and discontinued
operations decreased by $1.0 million to $6.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009, compared to $7.6 million in the comparable period of 2008,
as a result of overall reductions in workforce between periods.

 
As a result of the discontinuation of certain operations, non-interest expense and income taxes decreased $5.3 million between periods primarily due to a

reductions of $3.0 million in occupancy expense, $1.1 million in legal and professional expense and $1.4 million in general and administrative expenses.
 

ITEM 3:                               QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 

For quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk, see Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk,” included in
our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.  Our exposures to market risks have not changed materially since December 31,
2008.

 
ITEM 4:                               CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e)) designed
to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in its reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons
performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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As required by Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act, in connection with the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our management,
under the supervision and with the participation of our CEO and CFO, conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is
defined under Rule 13a-15(e). Based on that evaluation, the Company’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of that date, the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were  effective at a reasonable assurance level.

 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 

There has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the Company’s quarter ended March 31, 2009, that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

 
ITEM 1:                               LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 

The Company is party to litigation and claims which are normal in the course of our operations.
 
In the matter of Sheldon Pittleman v. Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. et al filed in the United States district Court, Central district California against IMH

and several of its senior officers a Third Amended Complaint was filed. A motion to dismiss was filed by the defendants on December 15, 2008. On March
10, 2009, the court sustained the defendants’ motion to dismiss without leave to amend.  The Plaintiffs have filed a Notice of Appeal of the Order Granting
the Motion to Dismiss With Prejudice and the Judgment thereon on April 7, 2009.

 
Please refer to IMH’s report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 for a description of other litigation and claims.
 
We believe that we have meritorious defenses to the above claims and intend to defend these claims vigorously and as such the Company believes the

final outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. Nevertheless, litigation is uncertain
and we may not prevail in the lawsuits and can express no opinion as to their ultimate resolution. An adverse judgment in any of these matters could have a
material adverse effect on us.

 
ITEM 1A:                      RISK FACTORS
 



Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 includes a detailed discussion of our risk factors.  The information presented
below updates and should be read in conjunction with the risk factors and information disclosed in that Form 10-K.

 
ITEM 2:                               UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
 

None.
 

ITEM 3:                               DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
 

None.
 

ITEM 4:                               SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
 

None
 

ITEM 5:                               OTHER INFORMATION
 
Impac Capital Trust #2
 

In January 2009, Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) fully satisfied $25 million in outstanding trust preferred securities for $3.75 million. In
connection with the settlement, the Company terminated the Junior Subordinated Indenture dated April 22, 2005 with Wilmington Trust Company on
February 18, 2009 and the Amended and Restated Trust Agreement dated April 22, 2005 on February 19, 2009.

 
The above information included in this Item 5 is provided in accordance with Item 1.02 of Form 8-K.
 

Amendment No. 4 to 2001 Stock Plan
 

On April 28, 2009, the Board of Directors approved an amendment to the  Company’s 2001 Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan
requiring, in accordance with California securities regulations and to the extent applicable, the delivery to participants of annual financial statements and a
30% limit on total reserved shares unless stockholder approval is obtained.

 
The above information included in this Item 5 is provided in accordance with Item 5.02 of Form 8-K.
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Option Cancellations
 

On April 28 2009, the Company’s officers and directors gave notice of the surrender of an aggregate of 581,000 options and the Board accepted and
approved the cancellation of those listed options.  Joseph R. Tomkinson and William S. Ashmore each surrendered for cancellation 225,000 options, Todd R.
Taylor surrendered for cancellation 37,500 options, and Ronald M. Morrison surrendered for cancellation 42,500 options.

 
The above information included in this Item 5 is provided in accordance with Item 5.02 of Form 8-K.
 

Exchange of Trust Preferred Securities for Notes
 

On May 8, 2009, Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) entered into an Exchange Agreement with Taberna Preferred Funding I, Ltd. and
Taberna Preferred Funding II, Ltd. whereby the Company agreed to issue new notes (the “New Notes”) in the aggregate principal balance of $62.0 million (as
further described below) in exchange for (i) preferred securities in the original aggregate principal amount of $26,250,000 issued by Impac Capital Trust #3
issued pursuant to that certain Amended and Restated Trust Agreement dated as of May 20, 2005 and (ii) the preferred securities in the original aggregate
principal amount of $25 million issued by Impac Capital Trust #1 issued pursuant to that certain Second Amended and Restated Trust Agreement dated as of
September 26, 2005.
 

Simultaneously with the execution of the Exchange Agreement, the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, National Association,
as trustee entered into (i) a Junior Subordinated Indenture  pursuant to which the Company issued a Junior Subordinated Note due 2034 in the original
principal amount of $30,244,000 and (ii) a Junior Subordinated Indenture pursuant to which the Company issued a Junior Subordinated Note due 2034 in the
original principal amount of $31,756,000.
 

As a result of the exchange of the preferred securities for the New Notes, the preferred securities and related junior subordinated notes due 2035 in the
aggregate principal balances of $25.8 million and $27.1 million issued pursuant to Indentures dated September 16, 2005 and May 20, 2005 will be cancelled
and the applicable Trust Agreements and Indentures will be terminated.
 

The New Notes are payable quarterly in arrears and bear interest at a fixed rate equal to 2% per for the first five years (i.e., until 2014), and then 3%, 4%,
5% and 6% per annum for each subsequent year thereafter. Starting in 2018, the interest rate will be equal to LIBOR plus 3.75% per annum.  Interest is
cumulative and will accrue from the date of original issuance.   The Notes mature on March 30, 2034.  The Company may at its option redeem at par the
Notes, in whole or in part, beginning on March 30, 2010, but they may be redeemed earlier following the occurrence of a “Special Event” (as defined in the
Indenture) at a price equal to 107.5% of the principal amount together with accrued interest.
 

Either the trustee or the holders of at least 25% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes may declare the principal amount of, and all
accrued interest on, all the Notes to be due and payable immediately if an Event of Default occurs. An Event of Default generally includes a default in
payment of any interest for 30 days, default under either Indenture (i.e., a cross-default), a default in payment upon maturity, a default in performance, or
breach of any covenant or representation, bankruptcy or insolvency of the Company or liquidation or dissolution of the Trust.
 

The above information included in this Item 5 is provided in accordance with Items 1.01, 1.02 and Item 2.03 of Form 8-K.



 
ITEM 6:                               EXHIBITS
 

(a)         Exhibits:
 

10.1
 

Amendment No. 3 to 2001 Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan
10.2

 

Amendment No. 4 to 2001 Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan
31.1

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1*
 

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 

*         This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that
section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether
made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any filings.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 
IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC.
 
/s/ Todd R. Taylor

 

Todd R. Taylor
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

(authorized officer of registrant and principal financial officer)
 

 
May 11, 2009
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Exhibit 10.1
 

Amendment No. 3
to

2001 Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan
 

Pursuant to Section 7 of the Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. 2001 Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan (the “Plan”), the Plan is hereby
amended, effective as of January 1, 2008, as follows:
 
1. Section 5(j) of the Plan is amended is amended in its entirety as follows:
 
(j) Annual Limit on Awards.    The aggregate maximum number of shares of Stock underlying Awards granted to any single Eligible Employee during any
fiscal year shall not exceed 5,000,000 shares (subject to adjustment from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Plan).
 
2. Section 6 is amended by adding a new subsection (e) as follows:
 
(e)  Performance-Based Awards.    With respect to performance-based Awards of Deferred Stock or Restricted Stock granted under this Section 6 which are
intended to qualify as “performance-based compensation” for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Code and the regulations thereunder, performance targets
will consist of specified levels of one or more of the following (in absolute terms or relative to one or more other companies or indices): operating income, net
earnings, net interest income, net interest margin and adjusted net interest margin, return on stockholders’ equity, return on investment, return on invested
assets, stock price appreciation, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, cash flow, sales growth, margin improvement, income before
taxes (“IBT”), IBT margin, estimated taxable income, working capital performance, earnings per share, growth in earnings per share, expense targets,
productivity targets or ratios, portfolio quality (credit or otherwise), attainment of specific milestones in connection with strategic initiatives.
 
To record the adoption of this Amendment No. 3 to the 2001 Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan, Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. has
caused this amendment to be executed this 10th day of July, 2009.
 
 

IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC.
   
   
 

By: /s/ Ronald M. Morrison
 

Title: Executive Vice President
 



Exhibit 10.2
 

Amendment No. 4
to

2001 Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan
 

1.                                       Section 3(a) of the Plan is amended in its entirety as follows:
 

(a)                                  Aggregate Shares of Stock Available.  Subject to the provisions of Section 3(c) of the Plan, the total maximum aggregate number of shares
of Stock reserved and available for issuance under the Plan shall be 1,000,000 shares; however, on January 1 of each year, beginning on January 1,
2002, such maximum aggregate number of shares of Stock shall be increased by an amount equal to the lesser of (a) 3.5% of the total number of
shares of Stock outstanding on such anniversary date, and (b) a lesser amount as determined by the Board; provided, further, that of such amount the
maximum aggregate number of Incentive Stock Options shall be increased on January 1 of each year by an amount equal to the lesser of (a) 3.5% of
the total number of shares of Stock outstanding on such anniversary date, and (b) 3.5% of the total number of shares of Stock outstanding on the
Effective Date of the Plan.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, no Award granted hereunder shall become null and void or
otherwise be adversely affected solely because of a change in the number of shares of Stock that are issued and outstanding from time to time,
provided that changes to the issued and outstanding shares of Stock may result in adjustments to outstanding Awards in accordance with the
provisions of this Section 3.  To the extent applicable, the total number of shares of Stock authorized to be issued under the Plan shall be subject to
Section 260.140.45 of Title 10 of the California Code of Regulations.
 

2.                                       The Plan is amended by adding the following as a new Section 17:
 

Section 17.   Financial Statements.
 

To the extent required by Section 260.140.46 of Title 10 of the California Code of Regulations, the Company shall deliver financial statements to all
persons to whom an Award is granted pursuant to the Plan or to all persons who otherwise hold an outstanding Option or other Award under the Plan at least
annually.  This Section 18 shall not apply to key persons whose duties in connection with the Company and its Affiliates assure them access to equivalent
information.
 

****
 
1

 
To record the adoption of this Amendment No. 4 to the 2001 Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan, Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. has
caused this amendment to be executed this 28th day of April, 2009.
 
 

IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC.
   
   
 

By: /s/ Ronald M. Morrison
 

Title: Executive Vice President
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Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I,  Joseph R. Tomkinson, certify that:
 
1.               I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.;
 
2.               Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.               Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
a.                designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b.               designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c.                evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
 
d.               disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a.                all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b.               any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 
 

/s/ Joseph R. Tomkinson
 

Joseph R. Tomkinson
 

Chief Executive Officer
 

May 11, 2009
 

 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I,  Todd R. Taylor, certify that:
 
1.               I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.;
 
2.               Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.               Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
a.                designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b.               designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c.                evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
 
d.               disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.               The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a.                all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b.               any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 
 

/s/ Todd R. Taylor
 

Todd R. Taylor
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

May 11, 2009
 

 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the report of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2009 as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned, in the capacities and on the dates indicated below, hereby
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge:

 
(1)                      The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)                      The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
/s/ Joseph R. Tomkinson

 

Joseph R. Tomkinson
 

Chief Executive Officer
 

May 11, 2009
 

  
/s/ Todd R. Taylor

 

Todd R. Taylor
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

May 11, 2009
 

 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. and will be retained by Impac

Mortgage Holdings, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 


